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PROFILE

RioCAN’S PURPOSE IS
TO DELIVER TO ITS

UNITHOLDERS STABLE

AND RELIABLE CASH
DISTRIBUTIONS, WHICH
CONTINUALLY INCREASE
OVER TIME. RIOCAN IS

CANADA’S LARGEST
REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT
TRUST WITH TOTAL
ASSETS OF ALMOST
$3.8 BILLION. IT HAS

OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN A
PORTFOLIO OF 170 RETAIL

PROPERTIES ACROSS
CANADA CONTAINING
AN AGGREGATE AREA

OF WELL OVER 33 MILLION

SQUARE FEET.

tents 1 Financial Highlights 2 10 Years at a Glance 6 President’s Report to Unitholders 13 Management Team

con
cial Review S5 Senior Management and Board of Trustees &

14 Corporate Governance 15 Property portfolio 23 Finan
Unitholder Information



Financial Highlights

For the years ended December 31 2003 2002

Financial Highlights

Rental revenue $ 507,848,000 $ 436,727,000
Net earnings $ 182,416,000 $ 172,208,000
) Net earnings per unit — basic $ 1.08 $ 1.1
Net earnings per unit — diluted $ 1.07 $ .11
. _ Recurring distributable income ote) $ 213,856,000 § 189,216,000
~==7 " Recurring distributable income per unit $ 1.263 $ 1.222
Distributions to unitholders per unit » $ 1.140 $ 1.105
Total assets $ 3,790,591,000 $ 3,294,095,000
Unitholders’ equity $ 1,580,740,000 $ 1,348,472,000
Units outstanding:
Weighted average for the year 168,960,000 154,813,000
At December 31 178,050,000 158,573,000
Note: Recurring distributable income is a non-GAAP measure which is discussed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
% Total Po&folio % National & $ Distributions (per unit). $ Recurring Distributable
: Occupancy : Anchor Tenants * Income (per uni)
. : {as % of Gross Revenue) : H
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: W : : .
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YEARS OF

A year of consolidation and foun- + Counsel REIT evolves into

tion-building with a focus on - -~ - - - -RioCan-Real Estate - - - - - —— -
the acquisition of service-oriented Investment Trust.

retail centres in Southern Ontario '
and Alberta. RioCan becomes the
first REIT to be exclusively focused
on retail.

s Counsel Real Estate Fund
_ (CREF)evolvesfroman ___
.- open-end mutual fund to

‘ a closed-end real estate
investment trust.

~ RioCan makes its first major
acquisition in Ottawa of 5
properties totalling in excess
of 650,000 sq. ft.

- waarket ¢sp 941,403,000

January — RioCan established as
a closed-end trust with units listed
on the Toronto Stock Exchange,
trading as RELUN.

+ July — RioCan becomes first
Canadian REIT to internalize
asset management.

» July - RioCan’s second issue
at $4.875.

+ March — Successful issue of $21 million in new REIT units by CIBC
Wood.Gundy inc. and BBN James Capel.

$108,906,000

» March - RioCan’s split adjusted issue price was $6.375.

Year-end portfolio = 16 properties
: ’ t can $45,725.000

¢ North Afne;iéan Free Trade Agréement (NAFTA) creates largest free
trade area in the world, covering 360 million people and nearly
€$500 billion in yearly trade and investment.

@ Liberal Party regains power
_ in landslide; Jean Chretien
sworn in as Canada’s 20th

Prime Minister.

« Commercial real estate drops
materially in value; becomes

e Channel tunnel opens, connecting Britain and France.

bt —virtually iliquid for extended” - « Québec holds referendum
I "p_erio_dj and narrowly votes to stay
in Canada.

e 1991 Recession — remnpants
remain. o Interest rates rise dramatically.

i}’;} RIOCAN ANNUAL REPORT 2003



CREATING REAL VALUE
Now AND FOR THE FUTURE

o » {n less than three years,

RioCan's portfolio has-quadru- —- —-
pled — from 1,185,201 sq. ft.
IS 10 3,793,858 sq. ft.

centres with 2.2 million square feet of leasable area. Five of the
centres are in Montreal — the Trust's first foray into Québec.

» RioCan maintains record-breaking momentum and returns but trading
price does not reflect success, declining by 12 per cent.

Harker ton $288,656,000

+ Asset base breaks billion-dollar barrier. In just five years, RioCan
has grown by more than 1,000 per cent in asset size and has
achieved over 100 per cent growth in distributable income. -

¢ 2ap $717,775,000

= RioCan Signal Hill in Calgary
. becomes the first power
e i : centre i its portfolie:

fiarket cap $631,535,000

o U.S. budget crisis continues; » World “credit-crunch”recession.

* recession.

« Titanic most successful movie ever.

e Mad Cow disease hits Britain.

e U.S. President Clinton impeached.

s Southeast Asia financial crisis.

— ~ ~o Tallest buildings in the world - B v B
built in. Kuala Lumpur.

_________ . . ) RIOCAN ANNUAL REPORT 2003 );—\é:%?



YEARS OF

= RioCan becomes Canada’s largest owner and landlord of new
format centres.

= Portfolio presence in the Greater Toronto Area grows to over 26%
of revenue.

cop $1,332,666,000

= RioCan acquires RealFund
_and adds 4.9 million sq.ft.

arket cop $1,053,700,000

« RioCan enters strategic
alliance with Kimco Realty
Corporation, the largest
community shopping centre
REIT in the United States.

= RioCan/Kimco joint venture
ompletes first acquisition —

a portfolio of four shopping
centres in British Columbia.

= Property Management inter-
nalized — RioCan becomes
totally self-managed.

$1,779,095,000

« Internet/tech boom intensifies.

« Fear of Y2K bug, Internet stock boom.

e Panama Canal returned to Panama.

RIOCAN ANNUAL REPORT 2003
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ING REAL VALUE

Teriesvarrarivearerad’ crsvesey -

« RioCan adds Land-use Planning and Value-added Development
capabilities and becomes a true full service real estate entity.

#arket can $1,977,405,000

+ RioCan forms partnership
with OMERS and TIAA-CREE.

Year-end portfolic = 170
properties

(ot cap $2,724,164,060

» SARS outbreak.

o Extended and extensive North American power outage.

7 e Terrorist airliner attack

' ‘destroys World Trade Cenire
in New York City, racks global
financial markets.

s Iraq invaded by U.S. and British forces; Saddam Hussein's regime
deposed.

= Ten Wall Street investment firms
agree to pay $1.4 billion fine for
releasing dubious research reports
to investors.

s WorldCom, after admitting
to misstating profits, files for
bankruptcy — largest claim
in U.S. history.

= NYSE Chairman, Richard Grasso,
resigns amid controversy over
lucrative $140 million pay
package.

» December — Dow closes at 18-
month high — average 10,008.16.

= Euro replaces national cur-
rencies of Germany, France

e U.S. continues to suffer and 10 other European
‘ “mild” recession; U.S. Prime nations.
Rate jumps.

RIOCAN ANNUAL REPORT 2003 %?



President’s Report to Unitholders

| A DECADE OF CREATING REAL VALUE |

Edward Sonshine, Q.C., President and Chief Executive Officer

“‘“ R‘I‘OCAN HAS LONG BEEN RECOGNIZED AS ONE OF CANADA’S
HIGHEST PERFORMING REITS. WE'RE PROUD OF OUR LEADERSHIP
POSITION IN THE WORLD OF RETAIL REAL ESTATE. BUT EVEN
PROUDER OF OUR ABILITY TO RELIABLY CREATE REAL VALUE

FOR ALL OUR STAKEHOLDERS.

{E\; RIOCAN ANNUAL REPORT 2003



$100,000 INVESTED IN RIOCAN UNITS ON
' JANUARY 5,1994 WOULD BE APPROXIMATELY
' $709,760 ON MARCH 8, 2004, INCLUDING THE

REINVESTMENT OF DISTRIBUTIONS,

Dear Fellow Unitholder:

Welcome to RioCan’s 10th Anniversary annual report. A single decade - just 120 months - and almost $4 billion
in portfolio growth! That's impressive by any standard and we couldn’t have done it without you.

it seems like only yesterday that we first opened our doors for business. Part of that may be due to my state
of denial about being ten years older but mostly it's because this past decade has been filled with the excitement
and constant activity of building RioCan into Canada‘s premiere REIT. The years have literally flown by as your
REIT has soared ever higher — yet never for an instant losing contact with the down-to-earth fundamentals that
have been the wellspring of our success.

Qur central vision has always been to be proxy real estate owners for our unitholders. We have achieved what
we set out to do ten years ago; RioCan is a secure and value-added vehicle that allows investors to participate
in — and consistently benefit from - the long-term ownership of commercial real estate.

During a turbulent ten years (including a pair of recessions, the tech bubble, two separate periods of rising
interest rates and constant changes in the retail sector) | am pleased that we have been able to reliably grow
RioCan in every significant way — from the size of our portfolio to the returns to our stakeholders. For example,
distributable income per unit from operations, often referred to as RDI per unit, and which forms the basis of
the caiculation of our distribution to unitholders, increased 193% over the decade of our existence.

Over our ten years, the compounded annual return to our unitholders was 19.95% - strongly ahead of most
- ——-alternative-investments and- our industry peers:

RIOCAN ANNUAL REPORT 2008 ., 7 "




President’s Report to Unitholders

This is RioCan'’s tenth successful year - a
decade of record-breaking increases in
revenue, earnings, distributable income
and portfolio growth.

Creating real value — one deal at a time

Look at the scope of RicCan today: 170 shopping centres in Canada's best markets — a portfolio that we expect
will grow 1o over 200 properties in the next few years. You might ask how it all happened. And the simple
answer is: One good deal at a time.

We have a reputation for prudent, value-added investing and we're proud of it. We have never acquired

~ properties just to bulk up our portfolio. Each RioCan property is strategically selected with a view to its

immediate and long term worth as a retail centre and to its real or underlying value as a real estate investment.
As a consequence, RioCan now owns extensive properties at important intersections in the most attractive
areas of the most important economic centres across the country. Right now, their retail focus delivers the
highest possible returns but no matter what happens in retail, those superbly located properties will always

____represent fundamental value that will inevitably increase over time.
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The reliability and stability of RioCan's cash flow has always been our prime concern, but we have also assid-

uously sought to broaden our cash fiow stream in other, sometimes novel, ways. That is why, seven years ago,

we moved strongly into new format retail - the most exciting and highest growth area of the retail sector -
that today comprises 40% of our portfolio; 14 million square feet of Canada’s highest-growth, highest-potential
retail segment. And that is why we evolved from being a passive conduit of income from properties to a full
service real estate entity with the in-house capacity to provide all the services and expertise required to manage
and add value to Canada’s largest retail portfolio.

RIOCAN ANNUAL REPORT 2003




Net Earnings

200,600,000

172,208,000

-1,703,000
57,959,000
02,675,000
159,468,000
TR 182,416,000

150,000,000
100,000,000

50,000,000

RioCan is by far the largest Canadian REIT.

-50;000;000- -
98 99 00 01 02 03

-

o Geographic Distribution (based on gross revenue)

b

v British
Columbia
5.7%

Alberta
& 8.9%

Saskatchewdn

Manitoba
0.7%

Prince Edward Island
0.6%

N

QOntario
64.4%

New
Brunswick
2.5%

# = approximate property [ocations

" Top Ten Sources of Revenue by Tenant

Wal-Mart :

Zellers
A&P/Dominion :
Famaus Players
Loblaws
Winners/HomeSense
Métro-Richelieu
Staples/Business Depot :
Canadian Tire
Shoppers Drug Mart :
Total
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President’s Report to Unitholders

..~ ‘RioCan’s ten-year performance has

proved the validity of our concept, , )
product, strategy and execution. : ‘

Identifying new opportunities to create real value

Cash flow from our diverse portfolio will always be our prime focus. But it became very clear to your executive
team that ancillary revenue streams would have to be developed in order to continue increases in cash flow
and distributions at the record rates for which we have become known.

- - We also recognized that further growth in RioCan’s cash flow could not be sustained simply by making sub-
stantial numbers of accretive acquisitions. Prices of quality retail real estate have risen 20% in the past two
years making it increasingly difficult to source superior properties at a reasonable cost. The timing of our
accelerated acquisition program - especially in 2001 and 2002 - was impeccable as we took fuil advantage of
realistic property costs and low interest rates to continue our amazing growth of the past decade. However,
there is no doubt our acquisition pace will drop as the cost of retail real estate continues to escalate.

Among RioCan's prime strengths are an encyclopaedic knowledge of the state of retail real estate and intimate
connections to those operating within this unique business orbit. So, when we began searching the market for
new opportunities, one immediately revealed itself and, after careful in-house analysis, met our criteria for
both fiscal prudence and strong growth potential. We saw that there could be great opportunity in acquiring,
enhancing and eventually selling properties that had suffered either from a lack of attention by their owners
or because of the extensive reformatting that has taken place in the retail industry over the past decade.

We looked closely at the best way to access this opportunity - an avenue that would create a fresh revenue
stream for RioCan without increasing our risk profile - and found it in the formation of the RioCan Retail Value
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RioCan’s top 25 retailers (based on annualized gross rental revenue)

Wal-Mart ‘tapiasi%usiness Cineplex Galany Hona/Revy

Zellers Depot Future Shop/ Sobeys

A&PIDominion | Canadian Tire . Best Buy | Kelsey's Restaurant

Famous Players Shoeppers Drug Mart Sears A Buck Or Two

Loblaws Reltmans Mark's Work Petsmart

Winners/HomeSense | Safeway | Wearhouse ! Bank of Nova Scotia
L Métro-Richelieu Chaptersiindigo Forzanis London Drugs

Limited Partnership (RRVLP) which partners your REIT with the Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association -
College Retirement Fund (TIAA-CREF), a U.S. based pension provider and diversified financial organization
with US $283 billion in assets under management, and Ontario Municipal Retirement System (OMERS), one of
Canada’s largest pension funds. Partners of this calibre are, | believe, a concrete validation of RioCan'’s réputa-

tion for success and dominant position in our industry.

Since its.-formation last August, RRVLP has made five acquisitions with a total value of $122.3 million. And that
is only the beginning - when fully invested, RRVLP is expected to have assets in excess of $500 million. We
expect the partnership to create significant fee income for many years into the future and, if it is as successful
as we predict, this partnership could lead to many other opportunities for your REIT.

The year in review

2003 was a challenging year in many ways. The lingering U.S. economic malaise, the continuing fallout from
corporate scandals, terrorism threats, volatility in equity markets and uneven retail activity caused considerable
consternation in the broader economy. In the face of all this, RioCan enjoyed unabated investor support. | believe
this reflects our ability to deliver consistent earnings, to maintain very attractive total returns versus competing
investment choices - and to act quickly and decisively in challenging environments to take advantage of
opport'unities as they arise.

This past year, we were able to grow revenue, maintain our record for distribution increases and provide our
unitholders with a 33% return - significantly outperforming other REITs and the broader market indexes.
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DmSIdent S- Report toUnitholders__

All of us at RioCan are proud of our decade
of record growth and returns and we are :
equally enthusiastic about the future of
your REIT.

Highlights of our 2003 accomplishments include:

» The creation of the RioCan Retail Value Limited Partnership that has already opened up new revenue streams
and other opportunities for us — and will continue to do so, well into the future.

* Our land intensification program, which added 427,000 square feet during its first complete year of operation. For
__an initial outlay of $45 million, the program has raised our net base rent by $6.1 million on an annualized basis.

+ Commencement of new developments that is expected to add in excess of 1 million square feet per year to
our holdings over the next four to five years.

Sustaining real value through the next decade

One decade inexorably leads into another. What's next for RioCan? More of the same success. More emphasis

" on cash flow enrichment. More focus on deveioping long-term value for the benefit of each stakeholder. More

growth in distributions.

There has been one constant through the past decade, especially in the retail sector: change. And that will con-
tinue as a dominant theme for the next ten years and beyond. | pledge that we will continue to adapt our
strategies to take best advantage of prevailing situations and, most importantly, we will never forget that our
prime purpose is to ensure an uninterrupted and ever-increasing flow of income to our unitholders.

As always, | am sincerely grateful to RioCan’s employees, Board of Trustees and unitholders. You are truly our
most valuable assets. Thank you for your decade of support as we continue to create real value for every
RioCan stakeholder well into a very bright future,

Edward Sonshine, Q.C.

- President and Chief Executive Officer
RioCan Real Estate Investment Trust
March 8, 2004

12,4 RIOCAN ANNUAL REPORT 2003




The RioCan Team (from left): 2«¢¥ Rzss, Vice President, Leasing; ¥ty ®itcs ¢ &, Wiaks, Senior

Vice President and Chief Operating Officer; 8tickiant Cuanolly, Vice President, Construction; #efvward Sonahins, £.4., President and Chief

Executive Officer; #a:¥ 4 . Vice President and Chief Financial Officer; Danaid Bank w13, Vice President, Real Estate Finance; Thisnroess
fissern, Vice President, Financial Reporting; @i anny X} =43, Vice President, Operations

Behind all our plans and strategies stand the people of RioCan. Our enviable record has been achieved because they always
do more — and they are led by a senior management team that is without peer. Nearly every member of our management team
has been with RioCan since the beginning and their contributions have been essentia! to our success. They are experienced,
dedicated and embody an entrepreneurial spirit that creates real value year after year. They work harder to meet difficult
challenges and always reach deep to find the determination and smarts that keep RioCan on track to continue delivering the
record returns our unitholders have come to expect.

RioCan has enjoyed ten remarkable years — but be assured the RioCan management team will nat rest on its laurels, Each year,
we have raised our expectations and elevated our goals to unprecedented heights. And each year we have succeeded.

By focusing on what we do best, and a market we know well, we will continue to achieve our strategic and financial goals as
well as strengthen RioCan’s position as Canada’s elite REIT.

RTOCAN ANNUAL REPORT 2003 %




Corporate Governance

A DECADE OF STRONG GOVERNANCE ]

investors_are demanding. improved corporate reporting, disclosure and governance - and with good reason.
“Never in the history of public entities has there been a greater need for transparency, honesty and openness.

“Sound and effective governance has always been a priority for RioCan and is the foundation of RioCan’s
commitment to full accountability to its unitholders.

RioCan reviews, at least annually, its corporate governance policies and practices taking into account both
existing regulations and generally acknowledged “best practices” of comparable public entities. Our 2003
review has resulted in additional policies and practices which we believe enhance the effectiveness of our Board
of Trustees and our accountability to you, the unitholder. Chief among these initiatives was the development
and implementation of a Disclosure Policy and an Audit Committee Charter.

Our Statement of Governance Practices is outlined in our Management Information Circular.
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.”Albion,-C'entre,'_ Totonto, ON- - T T sow 170,515~ 98.3% - . Canadian Tire, Fortino’s
S (341,030) . o
Believille Plaza Belleyille, ON U aeon 89,237 \’E“‘_~1‘00:0°/o5-.;, - Streaim Intemational
Belleville Wal:-Mart Centre Belleere o - 100% 202,752 U 100:0% “Wal-Mart, Ofﬁ’c"e»”Deppr”" B
Bellfront Shopping Centre; Bellevile, ON © o 100% 110,256 . 90.6% - ‘Super C, Canadian Tire*
Blue Mountain Mall; Collingwood; N ‘ f00% 147.,745- 97.1% - Zellers, Price Chopper

Bolton Country. Shopping Plaza; Bolton, ON S 100% - 87,005 o 100.0% “Zehrs
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: : At:December 3% 2003+ -

’ PropertyrandiLocation~ -

© Qwnership v

Leasable .
Area

%"

Boulevard Shopprng Centre | & l| Ottawa on -

“Interest

(gift.). .

109,478

~T(218,956) T

. ,jLeased

Major or Anchar Tenants

100 0% Zellers, Loeb, Winners

- Bramrose Square; Brampton, ON- o -]

. Building.Box: Centre Tororio; on

Do
e 1000/0 . ‘_:,r:

R 7T
ey S

46379

129460

_ 100:0%1_‘,

lroo 0% :
. 100, 0%

Ljsg,‘go/nif;« -
oL CanadianTiee X Winners. o Lo

VV“Rona
' :_,No Fnlls

Loblaws™: 'S"p‘d‘r't%‘(;hvélzl e

Sears, NodFrills ... .. .

iBurImgweod Shoppmg Centre Burhngton N
"'-Cambnan Mall Sault Ste Mane ON
- Churchill Plaza; sault ste. Marie; ON

w vwnCrty Views: Plaza Nepean ON

- 50%

~180% y

90.7% A&P

973% R

e f,;Ciarksen Vlllage Shopplng Centre Mlssrssauga ON
Colborne Plaza Erantford N
Commissionets Court Plaza {ondon, ON'

County Fair Mall, smiths falls, ON

V-DougaH Plaza Winidsor, oM.

Efgin-Mall; st THomas; QN |
Empress-Walk, Toronte, ON

Enterprise Plaza, Windsor, ON. -
“‘Falhngbrook Shopprng Centre Ottawa, ON“‘

‘Festrval HaH Torontd; ON

Five Points ShoppingCentre, Oshawa; ON
Frontenac Malt, Kingstan;-ON
Galaxy Centre;; Owen: Sound, oN

Gloucester Silver Crty Gloucester, ON”
,(Goderrch Wal Mart Centre Goderich, ON
Green:Lane Centre, Newmarke;ON. .

Halton Hills. Shopping Centre, Georgétawn, ON

: .Hamilton-Highbnry Pl.aza,,t'ondon, oN

‘. anst Park Centre Wrndsor ON o ‘

100%

o 100%.
0%
100%

100%: -

33%

100%
100%

265,249

- 100%. .. 64
S100%:
100% 94

160,287

1296700
S1000%

68539

180,811

49,598 .

97516

123,484°

(246,888)

351,686
272,901

85988

136,333

@Q21,222)

156,703

53621
(160,863)

71,497

5,269

100.0%. . ..
- 100:0%
L 1000%

-~ 100.0%
“100.0%:

C98.2%

100.0%.
100.0%

- Zehrs
96.2%. Zellers, Food Basrcs

100.0%  Food Basics

Value Vrllage

0%1% ZeHers Food Basrcs
Galaxy Theatres, Sport Mart

98.9% Famous Players, Loblaws™,

Sport Chek, Staples
Cashway
: Loeb, Shoppers Drug Mart

._Famous PIayers,Chapters

95.0%
100:0%
100:0%

Wal-Mart, Food-Basics
No Frills, Galaxy Theatres - .

Famous Players, Chapters,
Future Shop, 0ld Navy, Zellers™,
Loblaws*

© Wal-Mart, Canadian Tire*, Zehrs

* Costca*, _Mich.ae!s, Petsrnart,
Linens.'N" Things
100.0% Food Basics

100.0%
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“Zellefs, A&P, Staples, Wiriniers™

LA

HomeSense, SportMart.

”[:ood Basms e ot gt o o



" At December:31, 2003 -

Owniership,

. Leasabler .

Area

Interest.

(Sq.ft)

Leased

Propesty andA,.:Location.‘

Heart E’fake’rTb'wnf‘Gentré B‘Ea'mpmﬁuoN”“” R
_ Highbury: Shoppmg Plaza London; ON.
Hunt Club Centre, Ottawa ON. .; R

“Hy & Zel's Centre; Brampton, ON

Innes Road:Plaza; ottawa, 6N

Kanata Centrum Shopping: Centre; Kanata, ON: ‘

i

k!

003
100%
o
190% "
100%

. Kendalwood Park Plaza, whiy, ON- -~ - 50%

27450

70,932

-32,294
47 ‘,'6‘5‘8‘:

257,385

100:0%::

95.1% .

100.0%

. 100.0%

100.0% -
100.0%
100:0% -

Fiajor of Anchor Tenants

Z‘,: A&P

Shaoppers Drug: Mart

AgP

Hy & Zel's

-~ Costco™, Petsmart

Wal-Mart, Lablaws*, Chapters,
Canadian: Tire* :

... Price’Chopper; Value.. ...,
“Village, Shoppers Drug Mart

- "Mldtown Mali Oshawa ON

_ Keninedy: Commons, Toronto; ON:

Langstaff Place Shopping Centre, Woodbridge, ON

Lawrence Square, Toronto,-ON -

Lincoln:Fields: Shoppmg Centre, Ottawa; ON

Lendon: Plaza; London, ON:

Meadowlands Power Centre, Ancaster, ON' ™

- 50%

100%

100%:
50%: .

100%:
- 100%

191,776
(383,552).

37,769

686,599 ,

144,674
(289, 348).

) 1'38,409
- 145,573

100:0%

100:0%

C934%
97.2%

91.0%
- 100:0%.

')‘AMC Theatres, The. Brick:

Dominion, Sears Whole Home,
Chapters, tansing.Buildalt*

No Frilis™
Ze!lers,»yFortino's, Canadian Tite. -

Wal-Mart, Loeb.

ZeI‘Iers,’Vélue Village

~ -HomeSense, Future Shop;
_Sport Chek, Costco*, Home Depot*,
- Zellers*, Sobeys™, Staples™

Millcroft Shoppmg Cemre Burllngton ON

* Miracle Plaza; Hamilton, ON"

Mississauga Plaza, Mississauga; ON

100%

"'4'“14-009'/0;: - Y
L 50%

185,235
(370,470)

83765
174626

Mountam Plaza Ma|l amilton; ON

Mountainview. Mall,. Midland; N,
New- Liskeard Wal-Mart Centre, New Liskeard; ON
Niagara Falls Plaza, Niagara Falls, ON

quthumberl_and Mall,.Cobourg, ON '

. Norwest Plaza, kingston, O~

CA00%

100%
“100% -
U100%

100%

»100% -

PELEY S
293,032,
77,742

143,825
332,918

“Oréng’e‘viilé Mall:.orangeville; ON:

Orillia Square Mall; Grillia; o

Pickering-Home & Leisure Centre, Pickering;ON

Pine Plaza, Sault:Sté. Marie; ON:
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100%

oo
L 15%:

100%. .

182,526
-3.110;3*24* L

37,253
(248,353)

42,380

L97.6%
96.0%

1000%
100.0%. .
[
95.4%
100.0%

100.0%
95.9%

73.8%

1.:0',0‘; 0%
Y5 A%
©97.8% -

97.9%

;k,xA&P* Shoppers Drug Mart..

wZellers Canadian Tire, Ultra Mart

Ultra Mart
Zellers, Price Chopper

“WaliMart

Zellers Food Basics, Galaxy Theatres

: ’Wal Mart, Canadlan Tlre o

Zellers IGA
Zellers, A&P: Sears, Canadian Tire*

Petcetera -

.‘,4.‘ Ze”erS’A‘&PM it + it it ¢+ \....‘.......‘.,.,..w i
. “Sears; DeBoers* . -

AP

- -Zellers; Canadian Tire; No Frills, Staples

.




© AtDecember 31,2003 - . - ' Leasable ™
e e i -Ownership.. . R ATB2. e o i Yo . e . e
Property and:Location .. Interest . o ASqURED: : tedsed: .. Major.or AnchorTenants

Port Elgin:Shopping. Centre; Port Elgin, ON: » 100% . 47,076 100.0% . Zehrs; Canadian Tire*
Premief Plvazaf St‘Gatharines, ON ... -.100% 146974 - 38.8% - Premler Fitness _ v
Renfrew MaII Renfrew, ON e  100%: 138,528 895% - Wal Mart Your Independent Grocer » '

RicCan Centre Klngston Klngston oN S 00% 386,772 - '1'00.0% - “Home Depot™®, Cineplex, Sears, .-
‘ e : . _ Staples, Winners; Future Shop,
HomeSense Old N‘avy s

/ Chapters Petsmart Loblaws ,

: }110_0"‘:O°/o:., o ““‘“_S'_ta'pl'e‘s T s

* RioGan Centre Sudbury, s on 7 50% 117,149 100.0%  Costca*, Famus Players,
e v et (238,298). oo o Staples, Chapters, Home Depot,
B I Sears, HomeSense

‘ f'R‘joCan Centre Thunder-Bay, Thund‘er_-Ba_y.;yij_,, - 100% ‘ 284689 E .1_07(;).0_% N Wal Mart, Staples Future Shop,
Lo S S ST e Wmners Chapters
RioCan Centre Windsor, windsoy ON -~ ~100% < 239,498 - - +100.0% Costco Farnous Players, Sears,
RioCan. Colossus Centre, Vaughan, ON 60% 272,787 100.0‘% - Famous P!ayers*, Costco*,
, o . , L S L Old Navy, Rona/Revy
.-RioCan Dgrhﬂ_aimﬂ_Cent_[e,‘,-Ajax, oN . S 100%- - o 780,005 o 100:0%: Costco Zellers, Winners;
o Pty miese S e S e s e N A A Chapters FUthE ShOp, Wal Mart

S e el T T e T o Canad|anTre Cineplex, Home: Depot*
LR TR o T 50% ~29,855 ~100:0% " -~ Best Buy; Loblaws*, Old Navy e
' 100.0% . Wal-Mart, Commisso’s, Canadian Tire*,.
: Future-Shop, Home Depot™, Wmners
Galaxy Theatres

| :RioCah Grand Park, MississaugachN‘ e v 33% 8,828 : 1,00.‘0% : Spor_tMart, Shoppers Drug Mart:
T Cea o (26,484) ' C '

RioCan Leamington, lesmingen. 0¥~~~ 100% 185893 100.0%  Wal-Mart,ABP
RioCan Leaside Centre, TorontoioN - * - 50%. 66,517 100 0% Canadian Tire, Future Shopr
,5;),9/0“_,,_,Am_tzg,_z.az“M‘,;,,_N,_JQ,QQ;QP@‘;*-_ Wal Mart Loblaws WmnerS~ .
(258:594) . .l .. Staples :

‘RIoCan_‘,-IV\“Aer.i'v'éle Place, Nepean, ON. <7 100%. o 186,373 . 100.0% ... Your Independent Grocer, Winners,
: c _Home Outfitters '

—RioCan-Fairgrounds; orangeville; ON: -—- - - -wmee - 100%. - - -3

e RioCan: Marketplace, Ottawai ON... ...

" RioCan Niagara Falls, Niagara fll, ON 100% 190,202 1000% - Wal-Mart, Zehrs*, Home Depot,”
. s . : o B e . Staples
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L ‘At}LDecerttBer;St,20035}'

= Property a'nerocatiort

~ “Qwnership:
U nterest

,{P OPERTY PORTFOL]O

easable.

Area”

‘ ’.U/u = ;
i gaseds

¢ “{Major orAnchor Tenants k

50%

(SgiFL);

Ciesdsy

1000%

“Home Depot*, Sears Whole Home,

,_Whitby ON:

: (332 904) :

. Home. Dutfitters Winners,

Future Shop- -
Wal Mart;

1

Wrnners Future Shop

~-;;R"ic‘)’Cén Westh’d"ge Orlilra ON'
RroCentre Newmarket Nevtmarket ON .
RroCentre Oakvule Oakvrlle ON .

RroCemre Thornhrll Thorr\hlil ON

Sandalwood Square Shoppmg Centre Mississauga; ON 100% -
ne 1‘@0"/0""*-

‘Sherwood Forest. Mall} tondon-,x‘ONx
’S‘h‘oppers‘rwantdi Bramuton; ‘ Brampton,;ou
'S‘hoppers:rWorld:fDamfurth‘,‘ Toronto; OGN~

South Hamilton Square, Hamiltor; ON:

<Centre; Ottawe; ON

- Stratford Centre, Stratford, ON
* Sudbury Supermall; sudbury,ON.

_ Timiskaming Square,:New Liskeard, ON' .. )

. Fi'mmins S‘qu‘a‘re; Timnvtir‘ts;"'aN‘“:‘z: (' i 302 g o

Trafalgar erge Shoppmg Centre Oakvrl!e ON‘." ‘

Trenton Wals Mart Trenton; ON

Trrmty Common: Brampten, Brampton on

Trinity Common Orleans, Orleans, ON- . " -

Upper, James, Hemilton;ON

- Walker.Rlace, Builingtor; ON: .

West: Side Place, Port:Colborne; ON

.Westgate Shopping: Centre; Otiawa; ON

o 20, RIOCAN ANNUAL REPORT 2003

100%.
50%;

100%.

60%

QO%“
R -,‘;1000/9.
50%. .

100%
100%

o 9,169
de253
140315
107,772
214,856 -

647,833
164,410 .

(328,820
304,505 -

72,669

160,082

134,967

e V223
04

100% -
- 100%:"

116,902

104,690 '

390,453

(650,755)

93,383

186,066 -

109,350
(182,250). "
129726
34,928
(69,856)

100.0%
100.0%
- 100.0%
100.0%
' 8;7,;9‘% ‘t;{‘:i'

o 998%
+100.0%-

100.0% -

100.0%
100.0%
Ceoeh
984%
- 100:0%
" 100.0%
100.0%

100.0%:

“100.0%
- 100.0%. .

97.1%

94.3% -

. ,-,rood"'B‘asrcs»--Wal Mart:Hom

Depot™ -
Domihion;: Shoppers Drug Mart. oo

:A&P Shoppers Drug Mart e

,No\Frrlls,Wrnners,uHomeSense o

Commrsso S

- A&P, Shoppers Drug Mart
’__Goodhfe Fitness

Zellers, CanadianTire, Prrce Chopper

‘Winners, Staples, The Bay* -

‘ Zell‘ers,r Deminion;. Staples.

‘Zellers Fortino's, Shoppers Drug Mart'.brk
~loeb; Shoppers Drug Mart

Zellers, Food Basics

- Zellers, Your Ihdependent Grocer*
Loeb, ; Zellers o

;mWal Mart Zellers Sears, No- FrrIIs

Loblaws

Wal-Mart

- " Home Depot*, Canadian Tire™,

Zellers, Famous Players, A&P,
Winners, HomeSense, ;
Future Shop, Indigo; Staples’

-Home Depot*; Loeb Wrnners

‘:Staples
,Canadran Ti’re, The Barn:~ :

Commisso’s.

Not Frills, Zellers

Your Indépendent Grocer,

- -Shoppers Drug Mart:




T AL December 31, 20037 A

- Owhefship

“Lasable
Areagn e

::“;.%‘;: o

" Property and Location

Westminster.Centre; London, ON

X _Wlllowdale Plaza, Toronto ON

’ 'Wmdsor Busmess Depot Wlndsor ON

" Interest” -
. 100%
e ‘,:'.‘.']‘Oo%‘:,‘; :

0%

(Sq.Ft)--
123,798,
50223

25768

Lleased -

. 100:0% .
1:100.0%: .
s ‘1 000% .

- Domipion " -

"é.téples

---Majar-or-Anchor Tenants

Staples o

"*l\/llracle Ultramart Future: Shopm B

”""“‘Woodwew Place; Birington, ON;

~ Prince Edward'Island:

~100%

147,852"

100.0%

Charlottetown Mall; Charlottetown, PEr

Québec.

Carrefour Carnaval St Leonard Qe

Carrefour Neufchatel Neufchatal; oc

Carréfour Trois Rivieres, Troie Rivlere's: qc

- 50%-

: 100%:.
o 100%
5%

164,962

. (329,924)

158,479

257,501
“sgsey
. (456,687)

- Centre Carnaval; Drummondyille, Q€

- 100%

7~-»Centre st Martm i

"~ Centre Caméval" Lasalle, QC
Centre Carnaval, Montreal ol

- “Centre Camaval Plerrefonds 96

‘.».'WC"entre,;‘Cam aval,‘,‘.llr'm,s Rivieres, o

Centrede 7 Concorde, batac

Centre Jacques Cartier; tongueuil, QC

Centre Regi'okn‘al'?’chateaUgu_éy,_ ‘Ch:ateadghay.».oc N

Centre RloCan Klrkland Klrkland QC

" Place Forest, Montreal Nord, Q€ oo

taval'Wal-MartCentre, Laval, Qc

Les Galeries. Eachine; Lachie;QC

Place Carnaval, Laval, Q¢

Place-Newman, Lasalle;.qcC

“100%

100%.
100%.:..

“*Lacﬂ_nute«WalrMart CENtre; achite, g¢

" Place-Des‘Quatre Bourgeois, saime Foy; Q¢

- 100%

100%

100% -
100%5 o

75,681

207167

67815

126,802
113,466 .
<A, 208

106,294

(212:588)
105876
Q11.632)

320,030

143,749 .

98.1%

96:2%

65.9%

854%. -

1000%

Chapters .

by LT

. Zellers, Loblaws Atlantic Superstore,

Winners,"_Sj'portuChek‘,‘

k\Super C, Value Vlllage :

Super C, Rossy

Wal-Mart Winners, Staples,”
Future Shop '

Super € Staples i

99:4%
- 100.0%
100.0%.
95.2%

9. 9% SuperC

‘96 9%

100:0%

SUper,. C ,,Rossy,‘,.},l R

~Super C; UAUGERETiE

Super C

‘Sup‘erC. . “““““

IGA, Guzzo Cinema, Value Village |

Super €, Hart

Fé’mous; Players, Staples, Winners.

258,329

{516,658)

158,057

104,240

245,028
121,700

169,458

100:0%
100:0%

%.5%
| 100:0%
97.8% -
S
94.1%

VVaI Mart l.OblﬁWs .

Wal-Mart, Reno, Canadian Tlre
IGA*, Winners, Future Shop, Staples

' Home Outfltters :
. Max1,_Rossy
Super C

lGA,Winners, Rossy .
Staples Rossy-

- Maxi, Winners; Rossy
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ing.is-a discussion.and analysis:of th lidated financial position and results of operations of RioCan Real Estate ‘

“investment Trust:(“RioCan®; “the Trust*) for t rded Decerber 31, 2003: This shouldsbe read in conjunction: with:the Trust's :

0 consolidated financial:statements for the two years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. Historical results and percentage relation-. .-

-~ “shipscontained:in the consolidated financial statements and management s discussion and analysis;including trends-which-might
.. appear,should'not be:taken-as indicative of the Trust's future-operations. S ' :

Certain information contained-in this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” contains forward-looking statements, based on the
Trust's estimates and assumptions which-are subject to risks and uncertainties. This could cause the Trust's actual results to differ
materially from the forward-looking statements contained inthis:discussion.. - ~

. Overview

" RioCan is an Unificarporatéd " closed-erid” '.'tif“ﬂ:"ét“goVé}n‘e‘éT by the laws of the Pravince of Ontarioand-constituted-pursuant to'a-
Declaration-of Trust ("Declaration”). RioCan.is.publicly traded and is listed on-the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol RELUN.

=+ “RioCan-is-Canada's largest real estateinvestment trust (“REIT") as measured by-assets'and total market capitalization. At December 3T, 2003
the Trust had owriership-interests in-a portfolio-of 170 shopping centres, with-RioCan’s owned interest being over 27:8 million square feet.

RioCan's purpose is to deliver to its unitholders stable and reliable cash distributions that will increase over the long term. It seeks to
do so by following a strategy-of owning, developing, managing and: operating Canadian retail. real estate. Management, in measuring
the Trust's performance, does not distinguish or group:its-operations on a-geographical or any other basis. Accordingly, the Trust has a
single reportable segment for.disclosure purposes: in accordance with Canadian generally acceptedgaccounting principles (“GAAP™).

- RioCan’s above stated purpose means the key measures by which management evaluates obtaining its objective are: (i) the growth. in.
its distributable-income before distributable capital gains:("recurring distributable income ™ or."RDI"” a non-GAAP measure which is- -
- discussed’under financial fiquidity and capital commitments); and-(ii) the growth-and stability of cash distributions to unitholders.. ..
" Recent historical data relating.to these key: mieasures are as.follows: i . Ce . :

' -.R'ecu;;fh’ . .‘% changes. ' Di's"tributionsf‘ % change’ =,
S distrbuteblen T T yearover o 10 - year over
(amounts perunit)- - - - L = ' . income. " ... L. . .year unithalders . year
L2002 S e b a2 AE2% § 1005 279%
T2000. T s e a9 s 1075 037%
S0 LS Tk S hOT . 298%
9 — ' §-—1:040 ST, SO . .

The didcussion and analysisiof Rio€an’s financial position-and results of operations:are ‘based upon-its. consolidated financial state-
_ments, which:have been prepared‘in accordance with ‘GAAP. The preparation of financial statements requires management to. make
L estimatesand judgments.that-affect.the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets. and-liabilities:at
the-date-of-the-financial statements-and the-reported-amounts of revenue and.expenses.during the reporting period. Actual results.”
‘“*“"“”"‘ﬁ]_aywdiﬁ‘é‘f“fr’o‘m"‘th‘os‘e‘?e‘stima[est‘under‘different'assumptions*and"COndit'iOHST"““““”“ T T T T T e e e e e

REEEE ] an‘a‘gemeht"believeythe*followi ng-significant-accounting-policies-a re-most-affected:by judgments.and. estimates.used.in. the_,pﬁepara:.._ S
tion.of the Trust's consolidated financial statements. For a detailed description of these and other accounting policies refer to Note 1 of
the consolidated financial statements. - e P T e : N
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" MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS |

B Bu|ld|ng amortlzatlon )
The Trust is required to-dssess the useful'lives’of its income: propertles for purposes of determining the amount of building amortization
to-reflect on a quarterly and annual basis. For the two years'ended December 31, 2003 and' 2002, the Trust recorded-amortization-on its

buildings-on:a: 5% forty year smklng fund basls The amortrzatlon basrs has 2 dlrect |mpact on the Trusts net earnrngs (For addrtlonal :

" under evelopment and records an rmparrment provision; when the undrscounted estlmated future net cash flow expected to be recerved
- _V_‘fromrtheongolngr use-and-residual worth of the: properties.are'less.than.the carrying amount.of the related property. The Trust's estimates |
-.of future-cash-flow: and:the effects. of. other factors. couldévary and result in.a srgnn‘lcantly drfferent assessment of | 1mpa|rment

The Trust reviews at east annually, or when-events or crrcumstances occur, its-mortgages recervable for impairment. lmparrment is rec-
' ognized: when the: carrying values of the mortgages recelvable will
. jassetst performance to:meeti the; contractu,__ d ' s 4
insufficient to cover: the obligations-and encumbrances, inc uding t e.carrylng values of the mortgages rec vable i a etween .
. fesultina- - -

not be:recovered. either as‘a result of the lnabrlrty of the underlyrng

rms of ;underlylng «debtor the Tfair-values-of

bt servic

itheinommalicourserofibusiness: The Trus

- srgnmcantly dlh‘erent assessment:

estlmates of uture‘cash flow:s nd farr values could vary-an
of;f'lmparrment ' ; x ‘ ;

: Guaranteesl : ST Bt e
The Trust reviews at least annually, or when- events or circumstances:occur, it contmgent liabilities relating to-its guarantees on behalf

. of third parties; primarily to borrowers. under its; parttcrpatrng mortgage receivable frnancrng program for those borrowers’ mortgages

payable and on behalf of RioCan's-partners anid co-owners for their share.of certain-mortgages payable. Recourse.would be had-to

‘the Trust under these guarantees in the event of a default by the borrowers, in’ which case the Trust would-have a claim against the

underlying real ‘estate investments. A contirigent liability"is recorded by the Trust when. the cartyifg values of the related real estate

investments are not: recovered either asa:result of the mabrllty of the: underlylng assets' performance. to meet:the contractual debt
s...._servrce terms of the underlying debt or:the fair values of the collateral assets: being insufficient to cover the obligations and encum-

) ‘brances in-a sale between unrelated parties-in the normal course: of business. The Trust's estimates of future cash flow and fair values ‘

could vary.and'result in 3 srgnlflcantly dlfferent assessment of.ifs contmgent lrabrlmes

Fair’ value of finahcial instruments

The Trust is required to determine at least -annually the fait value of |ts mortgage debt and unsecured debentures. In determmrng the fair
value of these financial instruments, the Trust uses, third party, or market ‘quotations and internally developed models that reflect-esti

mated-market: condmons The Trust’s valuations of financial instruments are based on estrmates and the farr vaIue of RloCan s frnancral

instruments may change |f its-estimates do: not turn out tosbe: accurate .

wAsset Profile

Real estate. |nvestments iRy
The specific retail-areas.in which. RioCan-invests, are (i) neighbourhood convenience: unenclosed centres; (u) new: format retarl centres;
and. (iii): dominant.enclosed: malls in smaller urban areas. Neighbourhood convenience unenclosed and domiriant regional enclosed
)ing, centres, typically. comprising 100,000:t0 250,000 .
_ , : rally: nclude drug stores, restaurants ‘and other service provrders
etail entres address the everydav convenrence onented needs of consumers; A significant portion of RioCan's portfolio consists

" of new format retarl centres —large: aggregatrons of dominant retailers: grouped together at high traffic and easily accessible locations:
These unenclosed: campus-style centres are generally anchored by supermarkets and:junior department stores'and may include an

entertainment: component (new: generatron movje! theatres large-format bookstores and restaurants) andra-fashion component

Income properties. are compnsed of Iong <lived income properties. (those i income propertles consistent with RioCari's core investment
strategy),.properties held for sale-and discontinued-operations (arising from:disposals.of long- -lived income properties), properties
held for resale: (properties that are:not. long lived-assets for which: thete is no"intention of théir being:tised on a fong term basis and

- ~arevintended:torbersoldiin-theordinary:course:of: business); real estate:investments-accounted: for-using: the-equity-method and: -

- deferred-leasing costs: Income properties Have grown to $3.4 billion at December 31,.2003 from $3 ! brlllon at December 31 2002
“The change in the cornponents ofii mcome propertles is dlscussed below S ~ R
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- Included in real estate investments accounted for using the-equity method (*“equity-accounted investments”) is the Trust's 15% equity
interest ($6:9 million. at December 37, 2003):in:the RioCan.Retail Value Limited Partnership. ("RRVLR"). RRVLP was formed in August
=003 with a, 25%. participation: by the' Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System ("OMERS") and 2-60% participation by the
o Teachers Insurance: and-Annuity:Association-College Retirement Equities Fund (“THAA-CREF"):The business:of RRVLP-is to;acquire.

.. underperfarming shoppingieentres:in Canadaithat have: the:potential-for significant-value-added, sredevelopment. or repositioning.
-+ opportunities and then to-dispose-of these ‘assets over & period-of years. The partners have committed (in the event suitable:invest-

' ments are: contracted for) to;invest:$200: million (of which RioCan’s shareis up to $30 million), which.taken:together with. third-party
debt;-will-enable-RRVLP-toinvest:more than.$500.million. in.targeted investments. At December:31,.2003 RRVLP had acquired four_

- -shopping:centres with:a.totalcost-aggregating $84.5 million.. Commencing with the earlier of: (1) the expiration of a three year invest-

‘ment period; o (i) the period of.time after which 90% or more of the $200-million investment commitment has been expended, '
“RRVLP will continue for a further four yéars. THAA-CREF is 2 major U.S. pension: fund, with- US$300:billion in assets under:management:

OMERS is-one of Canada's largest pension: funds; managing about $30 billion in-net investment assets. :

While RioCan’s. core-investment strategy'is to focus o stabilized, low risk retail properties-to satisfy its goal of maintaining and creat: -
sle-and growingRDI, there. are: acquisition-opportunities where value-added potential exists that are not suitable for RioCan
investor RRYVLP:provides:RioCan;with. a:vehicle.that enables it to: benefit g2 minority investor in pursuing these opportuni- -
ties‘and to'earn asset'management; property ‘management, development and leasing fees'in addition to incentive-compensation for
out:perfarmarceThy thezpartnership:— T - -

" Equity-accounted investients decreased from:$25.2:million at December 31, 2002 to $8.7 miillion at December 31, 2003. This net )
decrease is-attributable to:(i). the Trust's new:investment in RRVLP, less (ii) the second quarter acquisition by the Trust of an additional

20% interest in certain real estate investments in which it previously owned an equity-accounted:for 40% interest which it now pro-
portionately consolidates (see second: paragraph below). At December 31, 2003 RioCan’s interests in-the underlying real estate assets

of all its equity-accounted'investments was $18:8 million: (December 31, 2002 - $106.3:million)-and in‘the related underlying mortgages

 -payable was-$8.8:million. (December 31, 2002~ §80.0 million).

_ Pursuant to an accounting release dated September 12,:2003 by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (" CICA”).an entity
is required to accountprdsp’ectively for operating leases:in income property acquisitions. The release requires that the cost of income
properties be allocated to-intangible and tangible assets. Intangible assets includesthe valiie of ini-place leases, the value of the dif=.
ferential:between.original contractual rents.and:market rents.for:in-place leases and the value'of customer relationships. Tangible _
..assets.include land and bu_i_lvdj‘ng‘smgndk,d»efg[tg,d‘_fcgpgjkbalgwlgavstng;cg_stvs; Prior to'the application of this accounting release for income
property-acquisitions initiated on or after September 12,2003 the cost of income:property acquisitions was only allocated'to fand

and‘Buildings, - - e

incomespropertiesihave:grown t0:$3:4-billion at:December 31,-2003 from $3 1 billion. at.December.31 ,2002. This change is.prima: .. . .
. rily-attributable to.acquisitions 0f:$352.0 million during:2003, of which $132:7.million wasfinanced thiough the assumption:of
" related mortgage debt, andithe/acquisition by the Trustof afradditional 20%: interest'in; certainireal estate'investments in"whichrit: ==
oreviously:owned an-equity-accounted 40% interest. With the acquisition of this 20% additional interest the Trust now proportion-
~ately-consolidatesthe interests in-these real estateinvestments which resulted’in an increasein.(i) real estate investments of
*$78 miltion; and (ii) long-term debt-of $76.9:million: During the year ended December 31, 2003 the Trust also completed disposi-
" tions with a net carrying amount of $51.9 million, generating gross proceeds of $54.5 million, including $3.6 million of mortgage
.debt that was assumed: by the purchasers. This comparesto (i) acquisitions of $768.7 million during the year ended December 31,
2002 of which-$311.4:million was financed through the.assumption of related: mortgage:debt, and (ii)-dispositions with:a net car-
rying-amount of $113.9-million that generated: gross proceeds of $127.2 million, including: $30.7: million: of mortgage debt that

. was assumed by.the purchasers.

“The consolidated carrying value of RioCan’s owned interest in 27.8 million square feet of gross leasable area'is approximately

2:per-squa r‘effoqg-gAthectember~3-1n,~2003«Ri'oCan{,s"p'o_ rtfolio-had-an-occupancy: rate 0f 96.3%a s.compared to. 95: 8%.at

ember31;720027 , ~ — : I
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, Of the acqulsrtrons completed durmg the-year ended December 31 2003, $31 0 mlllron were:acquisitions of a 50% interest, with. the
other'50% acquired:by:Kimco:Realty Corporation (“Kimco "), a U:S. REIT listed on'the New York Stock Exchange, which also focuses on
* “thesownershipiofishoppingrcentres:This  compares-tor such-acquisitions-of: 5277 8. mrlllon for. the corresponding.period. of 2002. In addi-

o (ot dunng 2002 RioCanisold-a- .50%:interest:in. seven income properties o/ Krmco for $75:6 million., During: 2001, RroCan entered. |nto

astrategic allrance with. Krmco Orrgrnally, RioCan-and Kimco:each commltted to mvest $50-million on a joint Veriture basis'to acqurre
~and develop shopprng centres in Canada. Subsequently ‘this.commitment was rncreased such that both parties agreed to each invest

up:to $250 million:if invested by January 18,2003 after which time the commrtment exprred{g The strategic alliance described above
“provided that RroCan grant Kimco with:an exclusive right of first refuisal to provide 50% of the funding for development and-acquisi-
" ‘tion:opportunities in:Canada: undertaken by-the Trust. Although- this exclusive right of. first refusal expired on January 18, 2003 the

parties have continuedto assess potential joint-investments‘on-an ongoing basis. RioCan- provides property-management, development and

leasing; services for all the:properties that are owned by the joint venture.

Effective for drsposals initiated on or-after. May 1, 2003 the CICA introduced a.fiew accounting standard for disposal-of long-lived

r «r_«ioperatrons which-is-prospective:in: applrcatron The applrcatron of-this.standard to RioCan’s activities would. .
i i ) ty be classrfred as drscon inued.opera-—
s‘srfrcatronm

. income: propertres held for sale. Subsequent to:atransfer
deferred: leaslng costs: o these Iong :lived income propertles

RS dresult of the application of this new disposal staridard, dufing the third quarter of 2003 thie. Trust transferred $3.7 mrllron of
" longHlived income properties todiscontinued-operations, ‘consisting: of a'non-retail-income property. The-disposition-was completed in
_November 2003. The Trust recorded-a loss on the disposition of this- asset of $1.9 mrllron during 2003. ' '

In-addition to-the above. described. 2003: drsposrtlons of.income propertles with a: net carrying amount of $51.9 mrllron durmg the

- third quarter-of 2003 the Trust completed dispositions-of 70%:interests in two: Iong -lived income properties for which the net carrying
. “amount of $52.3 iillion: had been transferred:to income properties held for sale at the ‘end of the second quarter of 2003, These dis-
posrtrons generated gross: proceeds of §52.4 millior, ‘including $18.5° million of mortgage débt that was assumed by, the purchaser The -
] lde property; management development and leasmg servrces to. the resultmg co- ownershrp ' N

: RroCan 5 portfolro requlres ongoing. investments.of caprtal for tenant mstallatron costs related to'new. and renewal leasmg Tenant B
C “installation costs consist of tenant allowances and other leasmg costs including all costs assaciated with dedicated internal leasmg
- lprofessronals who' represent‘w Can:and’deal'with tenant represe ;"l'he g« iated with internal leasing staff- prrmarrly

rnclude compensation and.related:costs. Expenditures for tenant iristallations were $14:5 million for the year ended Deécember 31,
2003 versus $ 5. 9 mlllron for the: comparable perrod in: 2002 RloCan also mvests caprtal on an ongomg basrs for. the malntenance of

' for the abrlrty of.the. landlord to pass on; such costs 10 tenantsas operatmg costs.

As & normal-part of its busmess RroCan expands and redevelops eX|strng shopplng centres The costs related to these activities are
‘compnsed of: acqursrtlon costs,: extemal and mternal Costs: dlrectly related to the development and initial Ieasrng of the propertres

acqmsmons requrre substantlal caprtal expendltures to: enable them to compete effectively. The Trust takes these capltal rmprovements
and tenant installation costs into consideration-at the time of acquisition and in negotiation of the: purchase price:

Properties under development were-$103.6 million at December 31, 2003 as compared to $90 5-million at December. 31,.2002.
_-During:the-year eended December<31,.2003:$74. 0 million was expended-on expansion opportunities and other development.related

expenditures.as.compared:- to $67:6 million:for the comparable period in-2002. The balance of the change for both. 2003 and:2002 is -

prrmarrly comprrsed of the transfer or-a:net. basis, of the net carrying: amount of certain income properties {or a portlon thereof) to

Durmg the-year: ended December 31, 2003'$6. 9 mllllon of cash was. mvested in capital expendrtures on-income propérties, whrch
" when:taken together with-$74:0million oficash expended on properties under development, resulted in'a total:cash-outflow during
2003 of $80.9:million for capital expenditures on‘income: properties and properties under development. During-the comparative period: -
Sim- 2002 $14.6 million- of cash:Wwas invested.in capital expendrtures on' income properties, which, when taken: together $67.6 million of
v “cash-expended on properties: (nder development resulted in-a total cash outflow of 582 2 mrlllon for capltal expendrtures ofi income..
“omear e oproperties and properties. under. development “““ » o
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S MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYS

_— “The Trust has a‘hmrted“development programy| pnmanly focused oninew: format'retarl centres-"The provisions-of-Rio€an‘s-Declaration
_-have the effect of limiting: investments-in non-income producing assets-to:no.more ‘than: 15% of unitholders' equity. To minimize risks,.. .
developments are generaHy undertaken wrth estabhshed developers erther%on d Jornt venture or-co:tenancy basis: or by provrdmg Ahem: e s

,;.ﬂv;meanmgfulvamounts»o acant spacewAn advantage of unenclosed news format~retarl—rs thatit- ends rtself to- staged constructron ,
keyed torleasingtlevels-As a-part-of-its"development-program; ‘RioCan-will-make-foan-advances:torits-partners and-borrowers-to- he|p~“——--——~~-—

T fund the acquisition and: development costs of the related properties. These transactions are generally. structured either : a5 co-tenancies T T

or as participating.mortgages receivable with RioCan granted options to purchase an-interest (generally between 33 1/3% and 50%)

in: the underlying: property;(essentially, upon:or-after. substantral completron) s : :

Mortgages.and:loans receivable increased to $81.3 mrllron at December 31,2003 from $72.7 mlllron at.December 31,2002, At

December 31,-2003:the:components comprising:the Trust's: mortgages and loans recelvable. were as follows: (i) mortgages.and-loans
recervable from: co-owners:—:$22.4 million:(2002.~"$18:6 million); (ii) partrcrpatmg mortgages and loans.receivable ~ $52.0'million
(2002 $43; 8 million); and (iii): other mortqaqes and Ioans recervab!e =-$6. 9 mrllron (2002 -

Advances of mortgages-and loans receivable diifing the year. ended December 31 2003 4. 2.million gs.compared-to:
$31.0 million for the comparable period in:2002. Principal repayments of such amounts totaled $22.3 million during the year ended,
December 31, 2003 a decrease from $420.5 million-for.the-comparable period in: 2002. During the year ended December 31, 2003 -
5 approxrmateiy $11.3. million-of prrncrpal Was: repard by borrowers withrthe: proceeds of the Trust! s acqursrtrons of the’ borrowers interests: o
_in_certain.properties. (rncludrng through'! the exercise of to. purchase) that had been financed by the Trust through participating =~~~
and €0=0WNErs.mortgage’ loans.as comparedito: $99 6 million for the correspondrng penod in"2002. Other repayments during 2003
" and 2002 rncluded the repayment(s): of a vendor-take-back mortgage(s) and the balance of repayments were from cash ﬂows generated
from operating and caprta! transactions relating to thie underlying propertres , :

of the December. 31, 2003 balance of partrcrpatlng mortgages and loans receivable, up to*$28:3 million’ can be repaid from cash flows
generated from. the exercise'of options to: (require the) purchase of interests in the properties. At December 31, 2003 the exercise. of
these optrons would have resulted in an-increase-in. real estate: investments and' mortgages payable of approxrmately $29 5-million:;

Other operating-items :

Rents receivable decreased to'$13.6 million: at December 31,2003 from $17 9 million-at December 31, 2002. The decrease is.primarity.
- attributable:to rncreased collectrons of property tax and-common area billings-to tenants Prepard expenses and other assets increased
4 o $348 mrllron at December 31,2003 from $3O 1 mrIIron at December, 31,:2002. This increaseis primarily attributable.toranincrease

~--in-prepaid: operating: costs and deferred: acquisition costs: Accounts payable and accrued |rab|||t|es increased:to-$150.8 million-at: .

“December 31, 2003+from- §146.8:million-ati December31;:2002: This increasesis: primarily: attributable toy (i} anincrease in: accrued
interest payable tesulting from-the increase'in mortgages payable (ii)-an increase in-deferred income; (iii) an increase in unitholders”
distributions. payable;. partrally offset.by:(iv)-a decrease. in accounts payable and accrued liabilities relating to tenant installation and"
capital expenditures: . ; . :

Changes in. other non-cash operating. Items {ise: Workrng caprtal) used: $10 ) mrIIron of-cash for the year ended December 31 2003
‘compared to: providing cash.of $24.1 mrllron for the comparative perrod in“the prior year: The increased cash outflows during: the
“twelve‘months:ended December-31, 2003 are: attributable to; amongst other-items: (i).increased prepayments of operating costs; -
“{iiy an increasesin accrued interest recelvable resulting from the decrease in mortgage recelvable prrncrpal repaid-as compared to
-~ 2602'by borrowers with'the proceeds of the Trust's acquisitions of the:borrowers' interests in properties; which-were partially offsét.
“ by:(iil). anincrease in-the amount of collections of property tax and common area brllrngs to tenants; (iv)'the sale of a property
held for resale; and:(v)-an increase’in-accrued interest-expense to"be paid after the fourth quarter of 2003 resulting from the
increase in mortgages payable. |

v "‘Caprtai Structure and quurd

RroCan frnances 1ts operatrons ‘with vanous forms of caprtal |nc|ud|ng equity,. bank debt long term mortgage frnancrng on completed
-income propertres unsecured debentures and short to medrum -termi‘ construction: frnancmg on propertres under development.
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NT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | :

. Debt

RioCan's sources of debt include domestic: and forergn mortgage lenders the unsecured debenture market and conventional bank borfowings.

~ Standard: & Poor ("S&P") and the: Dominion: Bond Rating Service Limited (“DBRS") provide credit ratings of debt securities for commer
- ciak entrtres A-credit-rating generally-provides-an‘indication-of the risk't

tthie borrower will'not fulfill-its full-obligations‘in' a-timely- -

“manner with Tespect to Bothvinterestand principal"commitments: Rating’ categones range” from highest-credit- quallty (generally-AARY o

very highly speculative (generally C). S&P has provided the Trust with-an entity credit | rating of BBB and a credit rating of BBB- relating
to RioCan's unsecured debentures. DBRS. has provided the Trust with.a credit rating of BBB (stable) relating to RioCan's unsecured
debentures. A credit rating of BBB.is-generally an indication-of adequate credit quality as-defined by both agencies.

RioCan's-Declaration. provides:for-maximurm: total. debt Tevels up.to 60% of-aggregate assets:(defined in the Declaration.as total assets
plus.accumulated-amortization of income:properties): Notwithstanding these unitholder. approved limits; RioCan limits its:debt to-55%
of aggregate assets. At December 31, 2003 theTrust’s indebtedness:was 53.1% of ‘aggregate assets and RioCan could therefore incur
additionakindebtedness-6f:$165.2 million.and still adhere to its policy of not exceeding'a 55% leverage limitation. Comparatively, at

December. 31, 2002 the Trust’s.indebtedness was 51.9% of aggregate assets and-RioCan could therefore incur-additional indebtedness

of: over $23l mrllron and strll adhere to-its polrcy of not exceedlng a 55%: Ieverage limitation.

At December 31 2003 aggregate mdebtedness of the Trust was $2 06 brllron as compared to §1.75 billion at December 31 2002

- ‘At December 31, 2003 the composition of RioCan's aggregate indebtedness was as follows: (i) mortgages payable of $1.72 billion -

(83.6%. of. agg,[eqate |ndebtedness) as compared-to $ 1.4 billion (80:6% of aggregate indebtedness) for the comparative period in

‘ ‘aggregate rndebtedness) for the comparatrve perrod in 2002,

" “above;-with the acquisition: of the 20% additiohal interest in certain
these interests in those:investments:résulting, in an-increase-of long -term debt of $76.9:million;:and (iv) the repayment of-mortgage

~debt of $194.1 million-(including- $38.1 million: in scheduled-amortizations and $27.9 mrllron of mortgage debt assumption by purchasers).

~~During the comparative-period in:2002"RioCan: (i) received-cash-proceeds of- $332 3 mrlllon from-new mortgage debt borrowrngs and-gross -~

02«;-and {ii).debentures; payable of $338.7. million’ (16 4%.of aggregate rndebtedness) as compared to $338 7. mllllon (19 4% of

; tThe increase inindebtedness dunng the:year: ended December 3 2003 resulted prlmanly from: () rew secured debt cash borrowmgs

of $297.7 million; (ii) $.132.7-million of mortgage financing assumed on the. acquisition: of real estate investments; (i) as discussed,
eal estate inVestiments; the Trust now proportronately/consolrdates S

proceeds of §1125.07million from thie i5sUe of 'Series'C senior unsecured debentures (i) $3114 “million of ortgage finanting was assumed"

" on.the-acquisition-of-real estate investments; iii) repayments of $763.7 million of such debt(including $27.9 million through sched-

R A R

’*semor unsecured debentures (and $l3 7 milli

uled amortizations and §30.7 million of mortgage debt-assumption by purchasers); and (iv) the repayment of $86.3 mrlhon Series’A
5 extended by the holders.to. October: 31 2007). : :

At December 3 2003 and 2002 RioCan had four series of senior unsecured debentures outstandmg totalrng $338 7 million. Such -

‘debt requires:nerongoing:scheduled repayments-of principal-amortization:

* The vast majority of RioCan’s mortgage indebtedness has recourse: to the assets ofthé‘TrUst (as opposed 0. only having recourse to-the

~as follows: 2004 — >$~105 ¥ mrllron of \‘NhICh‘“$V4‘3.8 million relates to scheduled amortrzatrons (5.1% of aggregate mdebtedness)

‘ "specrflc property charged) This: pollcy hias: been followed as/it generally results in ower-interest Costs than would otherwrse be obtained.

2005~ $169.8 million of which $43.4 miliion relates to scheduled amortizations and $50:0'million relates to a debenture maturity
(8.3% of aggregate indebtedness); 2006~ $243.7 million of which $43.6 million relates to-scheduled amortizations and. of which

-$125.0-million relates to:a debenture maturity:(11.8% of aggregate indebtedness); 2007 = $402.9 million of which $42.5. million

relatésto scheduled amortizations and of which'§163.7 million relates to debenture: maturities (19.6% of aggregate indebtedness);’
and; 2008 - $198.4 million.of which $37.9 million relates to scheduled amortizations (9.6% of aggregate indebtedness).

Included in 2004 maturities are: (i)' $43.8 million of scheduled amortizations; (ii) $9.7-million in construction loans that are expected
to-be-refinanced with: long:term financing at completion of the (reJdevelopments; and (iii) $51.6 million of mortgage debt maturing in
2004. 1t is expected that aIl matuntres will'be refmanced or repard in‘the normal course. .. :

~At December 31,2003 RioCan: had: revolving lrnes of creditin place totalmg 5102 5 million with major Canadlan flnanclal institutions,

against which $20 6 millior of letters of credrt were: drawn These facilities-are: subJect to annual renewal and are secured by certarn :

~“income properties.
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0 eivable containzincome pa 1 real estate in addrtron RroCan has o
real estate rnvestments accounted for’ usrng the equrty ‘methad. H ,d'?"proportlonate consoli n'been used for these real estateinvest-
“ ments, thereswouldibeno: impaction-RDI; however; RioCan‘s:interest in the: tnderlying:real: estate: assets-of these investments would:
,‘f‘*“have resulted in-increasesifir (i) feal estate investientsof $38:2"million; and. (rr) Iong term: debt of $38 3 mrllron Furthermore the
Trust’s indebtedness would"haveincreased:to 53.5%of. aggregate assets.’ s

" The Trust has provided-quarantees on behalf-of third parties, “primarily‘to borrowers under.its: partrcrpatrng mortgage recervable“frnancrng
program for those borrowers’ mortgages.payable and:on- behalf of RioCan's partners.and co-owners for their share of certain mortgages
payable. Recourse wouldbe had to the Trust under these quarantees in the event of a default By the borrowers, in which case the Trust wouild
" have a:claim againstithe Grdetlyifig real estatelinvestmentsAt Deécember 31;:2003 such: ‘guarantees amounted to $336.5 million; -
exprre betwee 20044and:20¢ and no: amount has:been: provrded fori in: the consolrdated financial statements. -Managementhas - L
i greater than the mortgages payable for whrch S

EqUIty
RioCan:has-an equity: market capitalization. of approxrmately $2.7 b|||ron based on-its unrt price-of $15.30 on the Toronto Stock
’ Exchange at December 31, 2003.

Unit issue: net proceeds for the year ended December 3 2003 were $242 g mrllron as compared to $134 9 million; for the comparable

" period in- the preceding year. The change-during the respective periods is primarily attributable:to: () the April 2003 issue of 11,000; 000.
.- units:for-gross proceeds of $14O 3 millionzand the October-2003 issue of 5,000,000 units for:gross: proceeds of $70:5.million as com- -

pared:to the:May 2002-issue:of'9,000,000 units for gross: proceeds of $108.9million; {ii) 1.7 million units issued under-the:distribution-
X rernvestment plan-and:direct purchase plans in-2003versus 1.5 million units for the comparatrve period of 2002; and (iii) 1.8 million. unrts
. were issued under the:trustee and employee unit option plan in 2003 versus 1.4 million units in the corresponding period'for 2002:.

" The-Trust provides long term mcentrves to-employees by.granting: options through the unit option plan. The options granted permit
employees to acquire units at an exercise price equal tothe market price of:such units under-option at ‘the date the' option is:granted. -
_The oblectrve of granting, options.is to encourage ¢ executrves and employees to acquire.an ownership interest in the.Trust over a period -
of time which acts as.a frnancral incentive forssuch: persons.to:consider the long term interests of the Trust. and its. unrtholders Dunng
the year ended- December 31 2003 1t mrllron unrt optrons (2002 - 1.4’ n Ihon) were. granted by the Trust o

At December 31, 2003 there were 2, 500 000; warrants. outstandrng that were. |ssued to Krmco in September 2001 Each warrant o
e exprres on September 7 2006 and entrtles Krmco 10 acqurre one unrt of the Trust at $11 02 A ,

 S&P and- the DBRS: provrde stabrlrty ratings for RElTs' and‘income trusts: A stabrlrty ratrng general!y provrdes an rndrcatron of both the
- mw«-rwstabmty»and sustarnabrhty of REMs-and-income:trusts-distributions-to- unrtholders e s i e e e

» S&P 5 ratin 'categorres range: from the ver "hrghest ievet of cash drstrrbutlon stabrlrty relatrve to other Canadlan REITs. and income ..

-DBRS:s rating; categorles range: from hrghest stability and sustalnabrhty of drstrrbutrons per unrt (STA 1) o poor: stabrhty and sustarn oo L
_ability of distributions.per unit (STA 7)..At:December 31, 2003 RioCan had a DBRS stability rating: of STA-2-(low). This rating category ‘
P —reﬂects very good stability-and- sustarnabrlrtyeof drstrrbutrons per-unit- DBRS: has rated Riocar wrth the. highest stability ratingfor: any

nnnnn

"RioCan's Declaration requires it to distribute-to unitholders 90% or more. of its RDI with the balance beingretained by the Trust forUse
. in.its operations. For.the year ended December 34, 2003 RioCan-distributed 90:3% of its:RDI as'compared to 90.4%. for the compara-
tive period: of 2002. 0n:December 10, 2003:the Trust rncreased its monthly dlstrrbutron from. $O 095 per unit to $0. 0975 per-unit;
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—Tie- ueclaratlon*requrres RDI to be- calculated generally as-annual net- earnmgs excludrng gains-and-losses-from- real estate,mvestments xxxxxx —
" amortization-of Bildings:

provisionsif paitment:of realiestaterinvestments and:other items- that are not,.in the-view-of the' :

" Trustees, proper-determinants-of the actual operating-income: of the' Trust, RDIis 3 rion- GAAP measire-and shotld not be construed as:

" an-alternative-to-ret-earnings.on cash.flow. from.operating activities, determined in.accordance. with GAAP as an indicator of the Trust's”

performance: The Trust’s method of calculatrng RDI may dlffer from other |ssuers methods and accordrngly RDl may ot be comparable

 to-measures used’ by other issters.

- RBkhas. been calculated i accordance wrth the Declaratlon as follows

(thousands of.dollars,. excepz‘ perunit: amounts)

Yearsended Déceriiber3y © . B o l G S . 2003; 2002
Net earnings . . o o o , A $ 182,416 $ 172,208
Amortizatlon | ‘ o e e ' B 29,859 24,794

(Galn )losstiom real gstate investments”

T E T L

<2084S> _____________ (18,100
) Dlstrrbutrons to® unrtholders L : e S $ 193,011 § s
Recur,rlnggdistrlbutable income : _— T L ‘$ 1.263 \$. 1.222
Retention of recurring distributable income, . o L__..;l ______ S : 012 @)

Dlstrrbutmns-tovunltholdersr-, ) o il S 5 1.140 $  1.105

‘During’ the -year: ended Deceriber 37,2003 drstrlbutlons to unrtholders mcreased by 2.8% 1o $ 193.0 million compared to $171.1 miltion
for 2002 RioCan:generated $213:9 milliom. of RDI as.compared:to $189.2 million in-2002; an increase of 13:1%: over-the-prior year.
Of the 2003 distributions to: unitholders $22.0:million (11. 4%) was reinvested: by unitholders through the distribution re-investment
-programas: compared to: $l6 7 m|ll|on ( 8%) for 2002

- During the-year ended December 31, 2003 dlstnbutrons to umtholders per unlt rncreased by 3 2% t0: $l 140 per unlt as compared to

$1.1 05 per unit in: 2002. RDI per unit increased by.3:4%10:$1.263 per.unit.as compared t0.$1.222 pef unit in-2002.
Durmg 2003 the Trust completed two: “bought deal? equrty issues for. 16,000,000 units aggregating gross proceeds of $210.8 million

~as compared to one:such equity:issue for'9;000,000-units aggregating gross proceeds of $108.9'million for the comparative period of

2002..The October 2003 equity:issue-was executed on:a prrvate placement basis. The equity issue proceeds were (or are to be) used
for, among other thmgs repaying indebtedness, acquiring real estate investments, fundlng (re)development projects, expandlng and
improving propertles and other investments. :

~RigCatarded 2003 With$157: 7 million of cash"and-short-terminvestments-and-over-$8 1.9-million-of-available  undrawn-annual-bank——-
lines.of credit. These bank.credit facilities are.available to fund property acquisitions and:(re)developments and to- meet short term

~ working capital: requirements. RioCan intends:to renew its:bank credit facilities prior to:their maturity dates.

As: previously stated:RioCan: has a policy of not: exceedrng its debt to-55% of aggregate assets. At December 31, 2003 the Trust's

_:indebtedness was 53.1% of aggregate assets and RioCan could therefore i incyr addrtronal indebtedness of $165:2 million-and still -

eré to its: pollcy of not exceedlng 3 55% leverage limitation.

At December 3l 2003 the Trust-was: commrtted underong:term: operating" Ieases primarily-relating to income. propertres with---
various expiry dates to 2029. Minimum ‘annual rentals for the next five years ending December 31 are as follows: 2004 - §3.8 m|l|ron
2005 -~ $4.2- mlllron 2006 — $4.2'million; 2007 — $4.2- mlllron and 2008 $l 7 mrllron
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3 : 1 0% interest, of anincome: property which is to be completed in
January 2664 and was funded by cash conS|derat|on of 59, 2 mrllronrand the assumptron of. mortgage debt:of $21.7 million:,

On September 22, 2603 RioCan filed a renewal: of its short form base:shelf prospectus which will-allow the-Trust, during the two

TUyear period that this: prospectusiremains valids to issue seniorunsecured: debt securities:inzan: aggregate” principal. amount:ofup-to,

§275 mlllron -At-December-34;2003nos sdebt-had:been issued-under this renewal-short form:base.shelf prospectus.

RioCan: antlcrpates that: cash flows:from, operatrons will continue 10 provrde adequate capital. to fund its operating and admlnrstratlve

' expenses, regular interest costs on its:debt and: drstnbutrons to unrtho!ders In"addition, the Trust anticipates that cash on hand,

borrowings:under.its revolving: credit facilities, and its abrhty t0'access. public equity and debt markets, should it decide to take such. '

waction;:will provrde the -necessary’ caprtal requrred by the Trust to. tund its ongomg caprtal commltments and obligations and execute its

C busrness plan:. .

@based o relatrve farrrvalues R

o -periodiin

The Trust reported net.earnings’ of $182: 4 mr!lron for the year ended December 31 2003'as compared with net earnings’ of

$172.2 million for the comparative period in 2002, Net earnings per’tnit (basic) for the'year ended December 31, 2003 were §1:08
versus $1.11 for the comparative period in:2002." Net earnings for the year ‘ended December. 31, 2003 included gains from real estate
investments of $0:4. million and:a disposition:loss-from discontinued operatrons of $1.9 mrlhon versus.gains from reat estate
investments of $7.8 million in the comparable: penod of 2002.. :

Revenue
The Trust retains substantially all-of the benefits-and risks of ownershrp of its:income: propertles and: therefore accounts for-leases with
its tenants as operatrng Ieases Rental” revenue mcludes all amounts earned from tenants’ “related to lease agreements lnc|ud|ng property

s‘o“lncludes the Trust s share ofi mcome from equrty rnvestments in’ rncome propertles

revenue increased by 16.3% to $507:8 million for the year ended. December 31, 2003 from $436.7 million for. the correspondlng
2002. The increase-resulted: primarily:from: (i) the Tull-year impact of riet-acquisitions of: $654.8 million in income properties

Rental

 during;2002; (i) net acquisitions.of. '$325:8:millioncof income; propemes during:2003; and: {iif) as-previously: discussed; the Trust acquired

mber 31, 2003 were approxrmately $56 o mrllron andtherewasa

"an additional 20%: interest in certain real-estate mvestments in-which- it previously: owned an equity-accounted ‘40% interest. With the

acquisition of this 20%-additional interest the Trust.now proportionately consolidates.the interests in these real estate investments

~ which resulted:in-an-increase:in-rentals refated to the:40% interest; (iv):the balance of the increase primarily relates to-the completion

of (re)development projects, new leasing: within:the property: portfollo and an-overallincrease in the portfolio occupancy rate o 96.3%

-at December 31, 2003:as compared t0:95.8% at December 31, 2002. Additionally, rental revenue includes income' from equity invest-.

' ‘k ments;in:income properties of: $0:9'million: (2002 — $3:2'million), the-decrease is primarily. attributable to. the above described: change

-~ 10 proportronate consolrdatron Upon: the acqursmon of the addrtlonal 20% rnterest

Tre Trust Has interests:in various real estate rnvestments through co- ownershrps rnvestments accounted for by the equrty method and ’

participating:mortgages receivable. Generally; the: Trust provides'asset-and property management services for these investments for
which it earns. market based fees. Fees.are recognized as;the service or contract activity is performed using either the percentage of
completion or the completed contract method. Under the-percentage completion method where services are provided over a specific

.~ petiod:of time, revenue'is recognized.on a'straight- line:basis unless there is evidence. that some: othier method would better reflect the= - -

e JOII’]r venture mmatlves

pattern~of~performance~The -completed: contractwmethod s apphed»when performance consrsts of-a »smgle act:

d:-December31 +2003.from- $1078:willlion.for the comparatrve per

urings 2002 The crease*resuItedfprrmanly-from '(r)~an increase-in- property management~fees -earned-during-2063-primarily-as-a
result of the- jornt venture acquisitions made with Kimico durlng 2002; and (ii) |ncreased asset management fees earned related to new

I myear ende_d;December

“*Interest'charged on: mortgages and Ioans recervable»and mterest earned on cash ‘balances decreased by 35. 6% o $10 Z mrllron Tor the
1,.2003 from. n_for 2002 .Thi

mortgages receivable: throughout 2002 as prevrous!y discussed: As ‘such,, RroCan earned mterest income on hrgher mortgage receivable
bafances durrng 2002: :
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'Expen>svés.)‘ o '
" Operating costs.increased 15.8% to $167.6 milli

on’ ff”é"m"$?1‘44'.'8i“milli‘on‘for'ihercomparative»period—during~2002-,«-lncluded.in_op'er,ating___w__‘

costs-are property-taxes of $101.5. million:which. increased by 14.3% 'frofr‘"\?{‘$"8‘8'."8:'miI‘li"q‘nifdr_“the comparative period-during-2002: -

.- Building: and: deferred:tangible: leasing;costs amortization. increased: 19.1%.10.$36.2. mill ion from $30.4 million for the ¢omparative’
2002, These'increases resulted primarily from: (1) the full year impact of net acquisitions of $654: 8 million in‘income-=-
i (i) net acquisitions of $325:8 million of income properties during 2003; (iii) as previously discussed, the Trust
0% interestiin-certain-real estateiinvestments in which:it previously.owned an equity-accounted 40% interest. . .
fheracguisitio »;h‘i‘sgz"ZG)P/a'zfadd‘itibnaléﬂizn'ter.est»'t-he'~»T,~r;ustwm9wﬂprppgrtiona;eIyﬂ.,c,onso\id;axqs::;thew_in:gre\sﬁtsmjnw;hg“s_g;”jrmgal_ ( ' o

B "méhts;'which'*vresuliedn‘ihwvanyi'ncneasennela,t?dz:to‘;?the.40;°/orvint:ere§;t;.,and,.(iy),thﬁ.ﬂ.‘,CQ,rTlPléﬂ?ﬁQf: (re)developrient projects within the portfolio - -

Interest expense increased by 18.5% t0'$137:8 million-during the year ended December 31, 2003 from $116:3 million in the compa-
rable period:for 2002. This increase: is primarily-attributable: to:: (i) RioCan having higher debt levels than in prior periods-as a result of
the-increase in-permitted-leverage approved:by its unitholders and _debenture holders:in 2001; and (ii} the additional debt undertaken:
~ to finance RioCan's:net acquisition. progrant of $654:8 million in income properties during 2002 and the net acquisitions of $325.8".
~ million-in-ficome:p perties.duting: 200: The.increased: interest: expense on newrdebt wasipartially-offset by-scheduled-amortizations:--. -
____ofimortgage principle-and the repayrierit of debt related to properties sold during the periods: Amounts capitalized to reakestate ™
: investments.during: 2003 of $9.2 million represents 6.7%of interest expense, an |ncrea’se'from“$"6":5*miHion"or"576°/owfor<~t:he~cempayra-ﬁ_*_-ﬂ
LTI ‘.”““*“‘"bi‘efpe‘r‘iod-'inw200-2.~$he~increase--in-eapitalizednintere‘st-ishcommensutate»wjxh,the'increasefinf (re)development activities undertaken: by
RioCan during- 2003:. e e ' O T

General and ‘administrative expense includes expenses for general Trust activities and real estate investment asset management func-
-~ -~tions-Expenses-{or-property mana‘gemen.t,‘,and‘,‘.‘tho‘s,e,,_dir_gctv.‘in,te,rng,l; costs. not included in-tenant installation or development costs.are
‘recorded as property operating: costs. General and‘iadmini‘strati\)e“ e‘Xp:é‘nsejin‘;rea‘s’e‘dfByf"TD{iF’/o,",tof$;1 6.0 million- during:the yeat'ended: " .
December 31, 2003 from-$14.5 million.in the. comparable period for 2002, Amounts capitalized to réal estate investments during 2003
© of'$3.3-million represent 20:6% of general and administrative expense-as compared to $3.2 million or 22.2% for 2002. The:relative
" decrease: i general-and administrative expense capitalized is commensurate with the increase In fee related services undertaken by the
 The=non-controlling interest charge to.net earnings was $1.8 million: during the year ended: December 31, 2003 as compared to
$2.6 million for 2002, The charge. represents an allocation of a subsidiary’s net earnings from'a real estate investment to the non-
controlling interest. In September 2003 that non-controlling interest'wasﬁredeemed for cash consideration of$52.8 million.

. ‘ Gai;mfrom real ést‘atev.in\;estments- IR R E R RETEE .
‘Included:in-net earnings forthe year ended:December 31,2003 are $0.4 million of gains fromreal estate investments arising:from”
sales.as:compared to:$7.8:million for the corresponding: period of 2002, which-amount was.comprised-of: (i) $1.1.5 million.of gains

from sales of real estate investments, sold in-2002; and (ii) 2 $3.7 million provision for-diminution-in-valuation-of two real.estate..

- investments recorded on twg ‘shopping;:cemr_es whose hook value exceeded their net recoverable amount during 2002. The actual
cash-generatedfrom realtstate nvestmentssalesduring:2003 was $80:5:million: (73.0%-of proceeds) versus $84.1.million: (732%. .
of proceeds) for, the: comparative periad.of 2002. Ca'sh'geh'era’ted'frd’rn'ZOO?dispositions was proportionate to 2002 primarily due to
the property dispositionsin both periods having proportionately similar related mortgage debts and therefore proportionately similar
mortgage debts were assumed by the purchasers. - . : o

‘ Funds. From‘Ope‘r‘atiQns;' L e (

Funds f'r'oin,opefatidns_(,"FF,‘O")fi'Ssa‘suppIémentaLn‘on-’GAAP,financiaI measure of operating performance widely used by the real
estate:industry; The Canadian Institute of Public and:Private Real Estate Companies generally defines FFO.as net income adjusted: for
extraordinary items, gains or losses-on'the sale of,‘or provisions for impairment against, capital items and depreciation and amortiza-
tion-relating to-capital items. FFO should-not be construed s an alternative to net earnings.or cash flow from: operating:activities
determined in accordance with GAAP as an indicator of the Trust's performance. RioCan’s method of calculating FFO-may differ from
e gtheRissuerstmethods:and.accordingly. may not ‘be-comparable to measures.used. by other issuers. | | L ‘

. _RioCan_considers ‘FEQ a m_garjihgfu_l'addit_ib'na’l"wrn:éa"s{urvé of operating performance as:it primarily rejects-the assumption:that the
<';va‘lﬁé:’-’kéf»‘freé‘lf’ie"sf‘éitéJi‘ﬁ‘\)’e'sft’rﬁént_s’:dimin‘ishes*i:‘predictablyfOV,.er.j-tvimes?arj'.d it.adjusts:for. items included:in.GAAPnet income that may-not- -
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 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

necessarily. be.the best determinates of RioCan's operating: performance (such-as gains or losses.on. the sale of, and provisions for
impairment againist, real-estate investments). : o :

A.recOncijiati’Onwof/GAAPf' n_evtkea'rnings 0. FFO is-as follows:

7 {thousands.of.dollars, except per-unit amounts)

B T L e T R ey - Iy .

Net eamings 5 b Lot S 182416 S 172208
Amortization R om0 3185
Gain from-real estate investments. ..ol L e (354 ~(.73735)f

L2743 L 200

TR

" "Flinds from ‘operations

B Gt

g 22515 8 1965500
Per unit -

FFO increased by 13.2% to'$222:5'million"during the year ended December 31 2003 from $1§6.6 million-for the corresponding péri-

~_od of 2002, FFO per unitincreased by 3.9% to $1.32 per unit during the year ended December 31, 2003 from $1.27-per.unit for the
 comesponding,period.of 2002 . ... e S

" Futire Changes In Signficant Accounting Policies

"The CICATREs recent‘ly'i‘si"s“ﬂ"é'd“&‘éb"ﬁﬁt’i g profod neements that wil I-*impa’ct",the'"‘a'cc'ountingwpéiicié‘s ‘of*theTrus't-dﬁri‘n g'~its?year»‘ending-ww—vw —

~_December 31, 2004. They are as follows: “

e A‘c'c"buntin’g'i'?fbr‘imp‘a’irmént&of long:lived assets

canrying

. adoption of this standard will increase rental revenue and other assets dur
- sponding increases toinet earnings and unitholders" equity:-

- The CICA's new accounting:standard for impairment of long-lived assets require an impairment loss fo be recognized when the -

“amount of a long-lived asset to be held and used exceeds the sum of the undiscounted casf flows expected from its use -
and disposal. The impairment:recognized should be measured-as. the amount by which the carrying-amount of the asset exceeds'its fair -
value. This-standard is prospectivesin application and effective for the Trust’s. 2004 fiscal year: RioCan has estimated that.the impact of
the adoption.of thisistandard willinot. have ,a_‘ma,teria}-‘impact;oh the Trust's financial position-or. results of operations.

2; Amortizatirjn of income properties i ) E ) R
The CICA has adopted recommendations that effectively disallow the use of the sinking fund method of amortization, which methiod is
currently used by the Trust in-amortizing its income-properties. This standard-is. prospective in-application‘and effective for the Trust's
2004 fiscal.year. Commencing January 1, 2004 the Trust expects to'amortize the net carrying:amount-of its buildings using'the.
straight-line-methodover agforty;year«ﬂestimated useful life period. Based on RioCan’s:net carrying amount of buildings.at: December

31, 2003 RioCan-expects that the-estimated-impact of the-adoption:of this:standard willsincrease: Buildingramortization during 2004

3. Revenue recognition
The CICA has adopted recommendations that require the Trust to change the method of rental revenue recognition such that it can no
longer account for stepped rent leases (leases with contractual increases: at. specified periods during the lease term) on a-contractual
basis. This standard is-prospective in application-and effective for the Trust's 2004 fiscal year..Commencing on January 1, 2004 the:
Trust will-account for. minimum;rental revenue on:a straight-line’basis; whereby:the total amount of rents to be received undera lease
is:recognized in-income:in equal periodic amounts over. the term of the respective fease. The Trust has estimated that the impact of the.

ing: 2004 by between' $4 million and $5 million with corre- "

_ +~by:between-$45- miI|i6n>and;$501millionwwitl_ﬁ..c»oriresp'c)nding;reduction’s_to,net;eamin'gs,‘_the;;n et.carrying amount.of.income properties. .
~~and torunitholders-equity: There'will-be-no-impact-on-RDI-as a-result-of-the-adoption: of-this. standard by: the Trust. - e



 tions.in interestirates and various other factors. RioCan’s net earnings-and
adversely affected i a significant number of tenants were to' become una

~ the!adoptionof this standard'w E .
‘ spo_nd‘i‘ngff‘{d"écreasé*'to‘vnEtEeéarn‘ings;';Thiere willibe'no impact-on-unitholders’ equity...~ - et
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» . 4«.,St'o_'ck;t‘.‘,:ased“:CO‘T,‘pe,_",sat‘i‘on, S e fiy R R B S N
The CICA has adopted recommendations that will require RioCan'to expense the fair value of all trustee and employee unit aption -

”g;aﬁt"sﬂf“R'i5é-a“ni’ﬁ’;ég.'e‘lreg{‘éd“io.‘a'dab{.‘tﬁ’é:‘gﬁnaa“fd.’,“o’ﬁ{»av'fé't“tb‘é‘&ti\fé‘:bés"i{s‘v‘;fbr‘{a‘|]i‘aWards:,graqted;‘on'"or'a'fter"Janu‘ar)g;;i;;;fZOOQévAs;-av;r;ééultw, P

on.January 1,:2004 the Trust will recognize the-cumulative effect by making-an adjustment to:opening unitholders’ equity: without ..

restatement. With:respect. to Unv_estedrunit option grants outstanding at December 31, 2003 RioCan has estimated that the/impact of
' trease gje‘nera‘l‘%‘and‘éadminist’rativereostsl,duringf‘20,04;,byuapproximately'50,;7- million with:a corre-

Risks. And Uncertainties L o ;
Alk: réél’%:p[opérztjyj"j‘h}/éstméri‘ts"’é‘réﬂ"slibj‘e‘ct%“td,?a degreerof.risk. They a‘ré:"’a‘ff_ected byivarious factors including-changes.in.general. €CONOMIC e
conditions.(such:as, the availability of long term mortgage funds) and:in local coniditions (such. as an oversupply of space.or-3 reduction

i demand for real estate in the-area), the attractiveness.of the properties to tenants, competition from other availablespace, fluctua:

‘funds available for. distributions to unitholders would be
ble:to meet their obligations to:the Trust or if RioCan were

" concentration-fisk strategy are discussed below. -

RioCan seeks to-reduce its-operating and*lea

ﬁh§‘4<f0 !:l_owingggt;ab'lésgillyu\;g@bte‘(_the»: ggogra_‘ph‘_ifﬁ‘ca L.d i.\?g Vrv,sjfi_‘fcgtiyq;_ i

Province S (Sq‘f.t‘ih‘OOO) O U sgrea%) ~{000's)

uriable to lease a significant amount of available space-in its-properties on-economically favorable lease terms.

___Tenant concentrations. _ e g iy : o e
sing risks in managing its shopping centre portfolio through: geographical'diversification;
staggered lease maturities, diversification of revenue sources resulting from-a large tenant base, avoiding dependence on any single
tenant by erisuringno individual tenant contributes a significant.percentage of theTrust’s gross revenue, and by ensuring a consider-

able portion of its revenue is earned from national and-anchor tenants. As previously indicated, management, in measuring the Trust's
performance; does.nat distinguish:or group:its.operations on:a geographical or any other basis. The components of RioCan’s tenant

RioCan’s retail. property portfolio:
At:December'31, 2003 - N R T : v
. S . RioCan's. - «. ... . RioCanis - . _Netcarrying Netcarrying. - -Annualized” - -
_..interestin .. ... interestin. ... amountof amount of T gross
gross_leasable G gross. ' ihcome i income . " rentaf
area ... . . Aeaseable . properties properties. . " .revenue
‘ T T

O_'ntarib" R - 2 172 , 644% BRI

" Qubbec t 7T AT T LT a0 | s ) _
CMbema e g3 g% o 3BT 104% 0 89%

_641%
UM%

saskatchewan 153 55%T 233 69% - AT%
British Columbia e s ad 40%  57%
New Brunswick » . 934 ‘ S 34% 69 o 2:0% o 25%
Newfoundang 183 07% 6 05% . 0d%
Manhobs e oewe o7k 0%

‘Prince-Edwardisland: - e i eh 06%: L 1‘_41' 0.4% k 0.6%

3:the proportio
22006 —.8:2%;




-~ RioCan’si10 largest tenants. (based on: annualrzed gross rental revenue) and th werghted average term remarnrng on therr |eases were
as follows : et _ ; | |

* At December 31,2603

T, At December 31 2002

Werghted : 2. Weighted' - “Weighted ~ Wetghted
: ..,_.average oy AVEFAGE. T “caverage T U Caverage T v v
,t,gross rental . remarnlng’ . _grossrental’ . - remaining.
s revenue. * - lease term - Tevenue - lease term.
. Pm.bmg——-.. enant (%) (years) (%) (years) -
T Wk Mart 6% 36 6.2% s
e ZeHers i e o 4.6% - - 13- CAA% o TEE
3. A&P/Dominion 43%]:;_ oML a3% . 120, -
4 Famous Players - 3% o 11 39% 187
5 Loblaws. 34% 9.0 3.5% 9.9
6 Winners/HomeSense 29% 7.2 2.4% 7.8
7. Métro-Richelieu 24% 1A 2.4% 65
8. . Staples/Business Depot. - . e 2% LM 22% AT
9. CanadianTire o g T 1% 12.9
10. . Shoppers DrugMart o N8R 20 18% .18
33.2% 32:8%

- At December 31, 2003 ) 80 1% of RioCan’s annualrzed gross renta! revenue.was denved from ‘and 80.3% of its space was leased
to, national and anchor.tenants; (ii) no-individual:tenant.comprised. more than 6,1% of the. portfolro s annualized gross.revenue;
"'.:*‘““ (iii)-over-49:4%:ofannualized gross-rental-revenue-was-derived-from-its-25: largest tenants;-(iv) 12, 8%:of-RioCan’s annualized: gross...-
- fental-revenue-came from:national and regional supermarket chains;:and (v) RioCan had aover 4,600 mdrvrdual tenancies.

I\/Iany of the Trust s Iong term Ieases contarn provrsrons deslgned to, mrtrgate the rmpact of rnflatron Such leases may include clauses .
enablrng RiaCan. to receive payment of additional' rent calculated as a-percentage-of tenants” gross sales above pre-determined: thrésh- -

- olds-and/or escalation: clauses which-generally.increase rental rates during.theterm of the-leases..In addition, many of the Trust's leases
are for ‘terms less than: 10:years which permits RioCan-to.seek to increase rents to.market rates upon renewal. The majority of RioCan's -
leases require tenants to.pay‘an allocable share of operating expenses, including common-area maintenance-costs, insurance and:
property taxes, thereby reducing: the Trust’s. exposure to increases in costs and operating expenses resulting. from inflation.

In.addition; in order to-reduce RioCan's exposure to the risks relatlng to the'credit and financial stability of its tenants, the Trust's
Declaration restricts the amount of space which:can be leased:to.any tenant and.that tenant's affiliates (generally, other than in
respect of leases-with: or guaranteed by:the Government of Canada, a province-of Canada, a municipality in Canada or any agency

<thereof)-to- premrses orspace:having-a:fair-market-value,. net:ofiencumbrances,.of:no-more.than. 20%.of the:aggregate_amount.of
: accumulatedamortization-ofincome:properties: calcu!ated in-accordance with GAAP -
\s-indicated-above; at December 3% 2003 RioCan's.largest tenant based on gross revenue was Wal-Mart at 6.1%.

In summary, the principal operating risk facmg the Trust is the potential for dechnrng revenue if it.cannot maintain the existing high
occupancy:levels of its properties. should tenants experience financial difficulty and be unable to fulfill their lease commitments. As
discussed:above, the Trust mitigates the risk of credit loss by ensuring that.its tenant mix is diversified and by limiting its exposure to
any one-tenant. Thorough credit assessments-are. conducted for all new: leasing: To further safeguard against the risk of declining
revenue; RioCan invests: pnmanly in:supermarket and:j fjunior. department store-anchored; nerghbourhood convenience-oriented shopping centres
which. are always: required-toi service the: day-to- day needs of the general populatron Should vacancies oceur in these types of centres
rt is generally easrer to Afikid: replacement tenants .
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and amortlzatro‘ Was:2.6-1

: rfESPGl’lSQ fo: C»

Interest rate and other debt related risks. .
Profrtabrllty is.impacted by-interestrates as interest: expense represents a S|gnrf|cant cost in:the. ownership of real estatesinvestments

by, the-Trust. RioCan seeks to reduce fts: mterest rate risks by extending: the average. matunty of its long term-debt and Irmrtrng the use i

offleating: rate'debt s0'as tominimize its exposure.to? interest rate fluctuatrons ‘At December 31, 2003 RioCan’s total indebtedness
had: a 6.year weighted average term:to maturrty bearrng a weighted average interest rate of 7.1%. At December 31,.2003 less than
0:5% of RioCan‘s total indebtedness was at floating interest ratesas compared 10'4: 3% for 2002. Additionally, for the year ended’

_December 31, 2003 and: 2002 RroCan interest coverage ratio (calculated based on net earmngs before rnterest taxes deprecratron

TUAdditioraty; rrates” may also impact'i investor attrtudes as; they rnfluence caprtalrzatron rates sought by rnvestors Consequently, S
the current environment of historically low-interest rates tends to posrtrvely |mpact operatrons a changein-this environment may-have
_the opposite impact. : ~ :

~ Afurther risk to: RioCan’s growth program:is. that of not havrng suffrcrent debt caprtal avarlable to-it. Given the relatrvely small size-of
i ;nulendlng marketplace there may come: g pornt rn the future:-at Whrch accessing debt capital may, become. more difficult.
‘ i isk ‘b maklng use of the Canadran commerual

Also;-certain- significant expendrtures rnvolved in real-property. rnvestments such as real estate taxes,.maintenance. costs.and mortgage

payments, represent liabilities that must be met regardless of whether the property is producing any income. If RioCan is unableto
- meet.mortgage: payments on-any;property, aloss could:be sustained: as acresult of the mortgagee’s exercise of its RioCan covenant or

alternatrvely the: mortgagee 5 nghts of foreclosure or power of sale;

quurdrty risk . ‘
Real estate inyestments_are. relativel illiquid: Thls |IIrqurd1ty wrll tend {0 llmlt ‘the a‘blllty of" 'oCan tovary its portfolro promptly in
;anged economic.otinvestment; condrtrons fRioCan were: requrre 0 qurck_,,quurdate its.assets; there 5.2, rlsk tha,,‘,_,“.._ ‘
RroCan would realrze sale proceeds of less than the current book value of RloCan s reaI estate rnvestments i

Competltlon for real’ estate |nvestments
A risk to-RioCan's growth: through-acquisitions is-its competrtlon for reaI estate mvestments RroCan competes for suitable real estate
investments with-individuals, corporations, other real estate investment trusts-and.similar vehicles, and institutions (both. Canadian-and
foreign) which:are presently seeking:or which may seekin the future real property investments 5|mrlar to those desired by RioCan..
‘Many of these.investors:have:similar financial:resources to those of RioCan, or opérate without RioCan's investment restrictions, or
agcording to-more’ flexible conditions: As the attractiveness. of this class of real estate has become increasingly widely recognized, the - -
competition for acquiring these-assets'has increased commensurately: As such, the risks to RioCan are: (i) that it will not be able to -
continue to-acquire high-quality retail assets; and: (i) an increase in competition for real property investments may thereby‘increase
-purchase prices-and reduce the yield thereon. The Trust has partrally mrtrgated this risk through its involvement in greenfield develop-
-ment by-way-ofits partrcrpatrng mortgage lendlng program ,

Governmental regulatlon and enwronmental matters .
“The Trust's.assets;and:operations: are: rnherently not:subject to-a*high-level of envrronmental fisk. Under various federaland provrncral -
laws, RioCan as-an-owner and operator of real property, could.become liatile for the costs of removal or remediation of certain haz-

ardous or-toxic. substanc l;released on.orinits: prop ties.or dispos d of atother locations. The failure to remove-or remediate such
substances f,rnay adversely affect the Trust's abili ,to sell such: real estate or to borrow usmg such. real estate as collateral and‘l‘ '
potentrally also result.in.claims. against: the Trust. - : L

It is RioCan's-policy to obtain:a Phase I.environmental audit conducted by 3 quallfred environmental consultant prior-to acquiring-any-
property. In addition, where appropriate, tenant leases generally specify that the tenant will- conduct its business in accordance with
environmental-regulations and-be responsible for-any liabilities arising out of infractions to-such: regulation. It is RioCan’s practice to

: accide

- periodically inspéct tenant pi 'ses that may be sub ect to envrronmental rrsk RroCan marntarns msurance to cover.a sudden and/or o
: ntal envrronmental 3 . : e :
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSS IoN AND ANALYSIS

" Construction risk : e e : R
Due to its involvement in"development activities, the Trust is subject torisks such as construction or.other unforeseeable delays and

cost-overruns. To.mitigate such:risks, the Trust.undertakes development projects with developers possessing a proven track record:of
—'-*._f—*—:fsiucceSSréIhe-.srisk‘scvqrél:fur»tﬁéﬁr«‘mini‘mi#zedithro‘ijgh;.adh‘éténcfe to-a. policy.of not:commenting:construction until satisfactory Jevels of

»

- wpr‘e:leasi"r’}g/salesy.ar,é‘,_ach‘ijeve‘d,[.g_ene_raI'Iy:déf,ined,,‘tp;bg;65% f leasable'area. In addition, the overall capital that can be committed at

"~ any.one time toall such projects is limited by its Declaration to no more than 15% of unitholdérs” equity: .

- ”Unlutholderllablllty ‘ - s e i

noitsieconomicstatement-deliveredson-December:- hie:Ontario-Government announced that: t.will.propose technical fegisla- e
- fiverchianges o clanifythat vestors-inpubliclytraded trust will niot-be-liable-for-the-activities-of-the-trust-Should-the-legislation-be .
" passed, the:Province-of Ontario will-have legfslated Iimitedliability for unithioldersin publicly:traded REITs"and income-trusts: '

- - Additionally; RioCan’s Declaration: generally-provides-that o unitholder will be held'to-have any personal liability-as such, and thatno .
- “resort shall be had to the private property of any unitholder:for satisfaction of any obligation or-claim.arising:out-of or.in.connection: ...
"with any contract or obligation of RioCan. Of ‘& RicCanare’intended to' be liable andssubject to: levy-or execution. The

Declaration further provides. that certainwritten instruments:signed by RioCan (including &l mortgages, leases‘and other written -

instruments:creating-a material-obligation.of RioCan) must contain a provision.to the effect that.such obligation will notbe binding
upon unitholders personally and that no-personal liability will attach in: Canada to the holders of units for contract claims under any
written-iristrument containing such a provision disclaiming personal liability. However, in-conducting its affairs, RioCan has acquired
and may acquire real-estate. investments subject to-existing contractual obligations, including obligations under mortgages and leases
that do not include such provisions. RioCan: seeks to use its best efforts to ensure:that provisions disclaiming personal liability are
included in contractual obligations related to properties-acquired, and leases entered into; in-the future. The possibility of any personal

- ~Jiability-arising-is-considered-remote s om ; o : o ' ~ : L

.
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 authorized, assets are safeguarded and proper records: are: marntarned

ccordance wrth the’ Canadran generally,~ : ';» T
aI“ Report is consistent wrth these consoll-

war dgments These consolrdated frnanc' state'ments were prepared
accepted accounting principles. Frnancral nformatron appearrng throughout thrs N,
dated financial. statements. ST

In-discharging its responsibility for the integrity and farmess of the:consolidated frnancral statements and for-the accounting systems
from which they are derived, management maintains the necessary system of lntemal controls desrgned to ensure that transactions are

The Board of Trustees oversees management’ s responsibility:for, frnancral reportrng through an Audrt Commrttee whrch is composed
entirely of trustees who are independent of RioCan. This committee reviews RioCan’s consolidated financial statements with’ both-

_management and'the independent a_udrtors before such. statements are approved: by the: Board Other key responsibilities ¢ of the Audit

Committee. include'monitoring:RioCan’s existing internal control procedures and advrsrng the trustees on auditing matters and finandial
reporting: |ssues

Soberman LLP: independent auditors appointed by the unitholders of RioCan upon recommendation of the Audit Committee, have
examined:the. consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards-and have

- expressed: their-opinion-upon-the-completion-of such examination-in-the following-report to-the unitholders: The-auditors havefull-
- -and.free access o, aynrdr..‘meert, at ‘Ieast,.quar‘terrr,y,,with,rlthew/‘\udit ,Commitj(eefrto :discuss,th_er'r; audit.and. related. fin‘dihgs." '

Edward Sonshine, Q.C. » k Robert Wolf
President and-Chief- Executive Officer Vice President.and Chief Financial Officer

Toronto, Canada
January 22, 2004

RIOCAN ANNUAL REPORT 2003




To the Unitholders of RioCan Real Estate Iavestment Trust ~ = * " = 7 % ,

We have.audited the consolidated balance sheets of RioCan Real Estate Investment Trust as’ at December 37, 2003 and 2002 and the
consolidated statements.of earnings; unitholders" equity-and cash-flows for the two years then ended. These financial statements are the
respon5|bll|ty of the Trtist’s: management Our responStblhty is to- express an opinion-on: these financial statements based on-our’ “udits.

We conducted our audits'in accordance:with Canadian generally accepted auditing; standards Those standards require’that "we: plan :
and perform:an audit to obtain: reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free.of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting, the amounts and:disclosures.in the financial statements. An audit also ~
. includes:assessing; the. accountmg principles.used-and; 51gn1f1cant estimates made by management as weII as. eva!uatlng the overail
fmanual statement presentatlon : r ‘ S

An-our opmron these consolldated ﬂnanc1a| statements present falrly, in all- matenal respects the financial position. of: the Trust asiat.
December 31.. .2003¢ and 2002 and the results of its operattons_a j,uts cash flows for the

‘Chartered-Accountants” T

Toronto; €anada
January-22, 2004
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ears then enced in accordance with



(n th sands)

Y ecember31 -

[coNSOLIDATED BAL

Assets
Real EstateInvestments

Income properties (Note 2}

 Properties under deve!opment tiote 3)

* Rents receivable

- Prepaid expenses-and:cther-assets- mote 6)-

T2003 0 2002

$3,399,516 $3,077,184

103,593 90,520
_________________________________________________ B3 72695
3,584,402 3,240,399

13,614 17,866

34834 30,064

‘Cash-and short term investments

157,741 75766

$3,790,591 - - -§3, 294 095..

Liabilities

Mortgages payable more »

Debentures payable (ote &

Non-controlling interest wote 2)

Unitholders’ Equity
Unitholders™ Equity

$1,720,431  $1,407,374

338,693 338,693
150,727 146,756
2,209,851 .. 1892823
- 52,800
1,580,740 1,348,472

The accompanying notes are an;integral part of the:financial'statements

Approved by the Board of Trustees

$3,790,591 $3,294,095

Paul Godfrey

Chairman of the Board of Trustees

Edward Sonshine, Q.C.
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TEMENTS OF UNT

[ consoLIDATED

{in thousands)

. Years ended December 31 2003 ‘- 2002 s
'Balance beglnmng of year o $1 348 a2  $1 212 4511.",,,.';;'
.~ Net earnings. 1_82,416 : 1{_72 208 '
' ,':Dlstnbutlons to’ unltholders (ote 74) ;'; (193,011 . (171,115)
. Ynit:issue:proceeds: o 250,353 - .- 139,526° -~
- Ynitissue: expenses ol o ST e (TA90) s (4598)
‘ lance; “$1,580,740 - §4,348.472. o
~{nits issued-and outstanding wete 1oy 178,050 - 158,573+
Weighted average number of units outstanding . 168,960 154,813
The accompanying:notes are:an intlegral‘part of the-financial statements... :
GLIDATED STAT
{in thousands, except per unit amounts) )
Years ended December 3% 2003 2002

15829

Revenue . SN Coe
Rentals % .507:848 $ 436,727
~ Feeincome 1312 110,806
: lnterestmcome _________ 1 0195 ......................
Expenses o ‘
Operating: costs 167,622 144,751
interest (Note 4) 128,563 109,831
General and administrative: vote ) ..~ 012,764 11,261
~~Non=controlling interest- e 1,843 - -20550.
" Aitorization of builgings e T 23088
- Amortization:of deferred leasing costs. - * 8526 7314
Total expenses 346,952 298,791
185,004 . 164,571
Gain from real. estate Investments wote 17/ | 354 7,786
Net earnings-from continuing operations. 185,358 172,357
Net loss from discontinued operations ere 2y - o (2982 (149)
Net earnlngs $ 182,416 $ 172,208
Net eammgs perunit-— basic
Continuing operations. $ 110 $ .1
P??FPF‘.‘.‘.UU?@QP.‘?F?.T.‘Q_U_S;_ e e S e 002 el
NEL EATMINGS. . i oo s ssieoon sttt s . - $ 1,08 . 5 nm

Net earnings-per unit - diluted
Continuing-operations
Discontinued-operations . " . .U d L

Net earnings

The accompanyihgb'notes 'are.enjnregral part:of.the finangial'statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS |

..{in-tHousands, except per’u unltamounts) ‘ e

o Years.ended: December'31 ‘ 2003 ' 2002

MCash ﬂovaro'v:ded by (used m)

‘Operating actlvmes

Net earnings o N T 8 182,416 o $.172,208

L Itemsinot affecting. cash ‘‘‘‘‘
Amomzatlon

2710 31856

- Ghin from’ realiestate: Thvestrients - T R o U L (354)}- crnr8e)
Discontinued operatlons B i ’ : 2743 © 272
Expenditures on deferred: leasing costs ' T o (14,454) (15,886)
Change in other pon-cash: operatmg items . Do " (10,180) 24,065
Investing activities ) } ‘ T L [ o . .
Acquisition of income properties o STVINE (174,925) (403,544)
oI Capitalexpendituresson income:properties: and propemes winder: developmenth'; i Sl e j(S_Q',ﬁG‘A)g» S (82,158) -
: Mortgages and:loans recelvable ) ‘ \ o el et o ‘
T | CAdvances - .o R . ‘ (24,186) (30,994)
: Repayments T o U e 22388 120492
Short-term investments. o EUREE ARSI ¢ SR . (25,108) -
Proceeds from-disposition: of real’estate mvestments : RO - 80,518 84,065

Cash flow used in investing activities o (202.217) (312,139
Financingvéct‘ivities_
_ Mortgages: payable
-Berrowings:

207,680 - 332331

» R"éﬁéiments (166211) — ~ (232360) -
. Debentures payable: _ - P o , o '
Borrowings : : R : ‘ - 123495
Repayments ) ' ‘ - - (86,307)
Non-controllinginterest oo ool T (52,800) -(2,200)
 Issue of nits® (R PRSI T O I 220875 118,218
 Units issued under. dlstnbutlon re-investment plan R L e 21,987 e 16,710
Distributions paid - il S e e T (190,318) (169,647)
Cash flow provided by financingactivities " .0 3213 100,240
Increase (decrease) in cash.and equivalents SEP I S e 126,867 {7,170}
S?_s_hfnsi__e_qv.!ve!ﬁnﬁ_s_..*?.e:s,tr_tr}_'ns__,ei,vear __________ LA e S e 20106 12,936
Cash and equivalents, end of year : R SRR e % 132:633 $ 5;766 L
Other cash flow information : ' : : ‘
Acquisition of income: properties through assumptlon of liabilities $ 132,663 $ 313,407
Other non=cash items: , 0% (27,936).. - $.. (30,726)
Interestpaid . . oo o, . §$ 136355 . $ 110738
_Cash equwalems end of year e $ 104,525 $ 0 -
The- accompanylng niptes-are’an integralipart of-the fmanctal statements. - ; o )
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1. -‘Signiticant accounting: _po‘liv,cj_e%

. wh!ch It exercvses control

(a)'Basisof accounting
The Trust's-accounting policies. ang-its: standardstof fmanual dlsclosure arein. accordance with Canadlan generally accepted accountmg
pnncmpl J ("GAAP") : A : ‘ ,

the reported amounts: of assets.and’liabilities and: disclosure of contingent assets.and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts-of revenue and expenses durmg the.reporting period. Actual results may-differ from those estimates.

Certain- comparative flgures including thoses pertainmg to dtscontlnued operations, have been recla55|f|ed to-conform to the current
year's financial statement presentdtion. =

{b):Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements mclude the accounts of the:Trust and-its-wholly- owned subsxdlanes as well as entities over

‘The Trust-carries ‘out-certain of its activities through co- ownershlps and records |ts proportlonate shate of assets I|ab|l|tles revenue and ;

 expenses of all: co-ownerships-in- which: |t patticipates:

Real estate investments where the Trust exerctses significant mfluence are accounted for.using the equtty method ThlS method adjusts
the ongmal cost of an-investment for. the Trust’ 5 share of net earmngs and changes in equity;

(c) Rezl estate investments:
(i} Income properties:

~Pursuant tovan-accounting release: dated SeptembeMZ :2003rby: theCanadian:institute: of Chartered Accountants (" ClCA an entlty g

W

The preparation of financial statements in conformlty W|th GAAP requnes management to make estlmates and assumptlons that affect

requiréd 1o account prospectively for operating |eases, in income property acquisitions. The release Tequires that the-cost of-income

and deferred tangible leasing costs. Prior to the application of this accounting release for income property acquisitions initiated on or
after September 12, 2003, the cost of income property acquisitions was.only allocated to land and buildings.

Deferred tangible 'Ieasmg costs are.comprised of tenant installation costs related to income properties, tncludmg' a'portion of estimated

- internal-leasing-costs associated with. the rental-of properties; and are deferred and amomzed ona straight hne basis over the term of -

the respectlve lease:

Amortization on: buildings is-recorded on a 5% forty-year sinking fund basis. Under this:method, amartization is charged to.income. at
an-amount that increases:annuaily, con5|st|ng of-a.fixéd:annual sum; together with a factor compounded at the rate of 5% per annum
soasto’ quy amortlze the: butldmgs over. a forty-year period.

Income properties are stated at the, lOWer of cost less accumulated amartization and net recoverable amount. The net recoverable
amount represents the undiscounted estimated future net cash: flow expected'to: be-received from the ongoing use and residual worth
of the properties, and'is intended to determine:recovery of an.investment.and is not an expression of @ property's fair market value.

Maintenance and repairs costs are expensed against operations.as. lncurred while significant improvements, repfacements and majo
renovattons are capltallzed to: mcome propemes- o

(i) Propertles under development ‘ :
-Properties-under-development are:stated: at the lower of cost-and net recoverab!e amount Cost is compnsed of acqunsmon costs

57440 RIOCAN ANNUAL REPORT 2003

"propertiesrhen allocated*tointangible and: tanglble assets: tntanglble assets:include the valueof inplace leases, the value of the-differ= —-~
ential between original-contractual'rents-and market.rents for in-place leases and the value of customer relationships, and these intan-
- gibles are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the respective. lease. Tangible assets include land, buildings

-external-and.internal:development. and initial’ Ieasmg Costs,. property taxes, interest on-both: speaﬂc and general debt, and-all proper’(y R R
~-operating:revenue-andrexpenses:: - - : - »




(iiiy Disposition of long-lived real estate investments - B . S
The CICA's new accounting standard for disposal oflong-lived assets and discontinued operations requires that such assets-disposed
of other than: by sale should:be classified and-accounted for as held for use until the:date’of disposal or‘abandonment. In-addition, the-

standard:has' bﬁr}oadened,the;definition, of discontinued:operations to.include any disposalé of an entire component of an entity, which
comprises operations-and cash flows that can be clearly distinguished. Assets not meeting tfie-above two criteria are classified as held

for: s‘al'e;an‘d«are;measur\eds:avt,the'Ich’;r of their. carrying-amounts-or fair-value less costs to sell. Wheh‘ an asset has been reclassified.as
held for:sale or-as discontinued operations, the standard requires the'cessation of amortization of the asset: This standard is prospec-
tiye*in;applicationxand.is'=effective£f0’r disposals initiated on.or-after May1, 2003. R : 3

-(d)-Debt financing costs , ) P ' , N
Costs-and market interest rate adjustments related to debt financing are deferred and amortized into interest'expense ona. straight-
line effective yield basis over the term of the related débt. - * . .o o o

(e)»Cash and equivalents ° R L : R : SN Lo - »
Cash-andiequivalents are-comprised of cash and include: short-term:market investments with original maturities of three months or less.
: ) ‘(‘f}) Re'\lgnuegrecggnitibn : ”f,\ » ‘ :

()-Rentals . T IR L R _ L
The Trustiretains substantially all'of the benefits and:risks.of ownership of itstincome. properties-and-therefore accounts for leases _
_ with its tenants as operating leases: Rental'revenue: includes all amounts earned from tenants related to lease agreements, including
property tax-and operating.cost recoveries. For arrangements involving multiple elements, the Trust allocates the consideration to -
each-element based on relative fair values: Rental revenue also iricludes the Trust's share. of income from equityrinv_est'menis in
" incomé: propérties. ' A S

(ii): Fee"income Lo ' RN S gt , ; 8 L _ 7
The Trust has interestsiin various'-realfy.estatej investments through co-ownerships, investments accounted for'by the-equity method and
: partitipating,~mor.,t_gages.receivable.tGeneralIy,;the.‘Ttu'st provides asset and property. managemenit services for these investments for

which-it earns market based fees. : o

Fees are recognized-as the:service or contract activity.is. performed using either the percentzge of comple

method: Under the percentage completion method-where services are provided over-a specific per
a straight-line basis unless.there is evidence that some other method would better reflect the pattern of performance: The completed
contract method is appliedwhen: performance consists. of a single act.: . h co

) ('g)lIhc‘entiveiu_nit»:opjcibh‘ plan:. - . SRR e . [ N
The Trust has.a unit based compensationplan which.is described in Note 11. No_compensation expense.is recognized for this plan
when- unit options ‘are granted'to trustees-and-employees. Any consideration paid by-employees.or trustees on the-exercise of unit
options.is credited:to-unitholders’ equity. o e

.- (h) Financialinstruments.... el S i . o _
The Trust's. rents, mortgages.and loans receivable (excluding:purchase options); cash and short-term investments and accounts payable
-and accrued liabilities: (excluding deferred income) are carried at cost, which approximates their fair value. The fair values of other ,
financial instruments are disclosed in-Note' 16 with fair value'based upon-discounted flture cash: flows using:discount rates thatreflect -

current market-conditions. for instruments-with similar terms.and risks. Such fair value estimates are not necessarily:indicative of the .. -~

- amounts the Trust might pay or receive in actual market transactions; PorentiaI~transactiqn‘lcost‘s-have also not been considered-in-esti--
mating-fair value.: : T T T T S e S :

“From timev to time, the Trust may, enter into interest rate swap (option)‘transactions to modify the interest rate p‘rofil‘e of its current
or future-outstanding: debt without an exchange of the underlying: principal amount. The difference payable or receivable on such
transactions is recorded as an adjustment to-the relatedinterest cost. :

The Trust does not acquire, hold; or issue derivative financial instruments for trading: purposes. '




- 2. “Income properties
' : oot Net
Carrying

- Accumulated - Amount

Cost Amortization : 2003

. e e e 573940 S - § 734947 .
e GUigE T s e o 2040 - {8868 2,620,538
Deferred tangible leasing costs. o S ms39t (20,075 35316

kand -

$3,509,459. § (109,943) $3,399,516

Net

B Carrying

PR Accumulated ) Amount
e Gt -Amortization: - o - -.2002"

tand ' . S ©§ 660,703 $ - $ 660,703
Buildings . « ] 2,429,229 (69,658) 2,359,571

'Defﬂerre’d ta‘ri»giblke leasing costs - R Lol 49474 o (17,812). . . 031,662

o $3,164,654 - $ (87,470) $3,077,184

(i} In November 2003; the Trust completed the disposition-of a non-retail income property (Note 1:(c)). At December 31, 2003.and
2002 summarized financial information relating te the discontinued. operation is as follows: -

2003 - 2002

Assets | O S s 1sa 5 6385
Liabilities ' : 8 129
Revenue : ‘ o o 205 314
QOperating costs B ' L S 404 191

’.Tw,,~.,.,‘,L"oié“.ffdrh“fré’é|§estafé*in§ze~stménts":4"1‘ o e -4 S

CNetloss e 81

(i} Land"and buildings include-anincome-property under apitallease »_foru;/uvﬁigh,fthé.‘:IﬁuStpﬁa:s'vé&érds@dfitsidptioh to purchase in 2013, "
The components are as follows: fand - $4,010.000; building = §12;437,000; accumulated amortization — $34,000; and, included in

' mortgages payable is an obligation under capital lease of §$10;524,000 (maturing in-2013; encompassing annual minimum lease pay-
ments of $750,000 for each-of the next five years at an ih’ipu’te‘d”i‘hté‘r‘é‘ét rate of 5.75%;perannum). S T e
(iliy In September 2003 the non-controlling: interest in an‘income property was redeemed fof cash consideration of $52,800,000.

{iv) Rental revenue includes income from equity investments in.incorme properties of $912,000 (2002 — $3,285,000).
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3. . Properties under development

‘included-in: v‘tgp,e,riiéts_‘jﬂhz’d‘é:[:‘ﬁdev‘elbopr‘ne“n:t;_gf”e;gaw ing-costs-of-$10,578,000:(2002.= §1 239,000).The_costs to complete properties o
urrently under developmenit s estimated to be $56,000,000. - T e e T

4. - Capitalization of carrying costs
' ' ‘ ‘ 003 2002

Interest

eestexpense L § 131779 116,344

Netinterestexpense = - - L L T o $ 128563 . § 109,831

General'and‘administrative.

c ‘énera‘l"aHd‘”a‘d“m,i"r‘iiS‘t’ra"‘ti\‘/g"‘éxp‘eflKS'é'":‘i e e s e . - 7‘.’57”.,.1‘5,‘026...V,.‘..v.,..,w$.j:‘,1L4‘,480_,

Capitalized to real estate investments. =~~~ = o (3,262 (219

_ Net'general and administrative expense’ -~ T B '""’“f"'"“$§"?,'"”'1"2‘{'764'2':‘““*‘"“f?

il ondt

"5 Mortgages-and loans receivable ™ -

2003 o 2002

Mortgagesand’Ioans‘:recei‘vable from co-owners. . R e ' ' $ 22,480 § 18,611

Participating mortgages and loans receivable o R 51,952 43,824

§ 81,293 5 72,695

»»;;‘JM"Qrtgqgeswandl,lova'nsxr‘e:ceiyabIe;{fnpm;,co.-owner:s, bear intérest at rates varying, from 6% to'11.50% per annum with a'weighted average
 year end rate of 10.21% {2002 — 10.84%». The mortgages and loans receivablé from’co-owners have fixed maturity:dates between 2004
‘and 2008, Prior to maturity, the mortgages and foans receivable from co-owners will-also be repaid from-the cash flows generated from
operating and capital transactions relating. to.the underlying properties. '

Participating mortgages and'loans receivable-bear interest at rates rang‘ing,fromﬁ 0%.to 12%. per.annum and entitle‘the Trust.to a share
of the income generated by the properties securing those'mortgages ("the properties"). Participating mortgages and loans receivable mature- -
:on“?thej’ear.lier;'ofir'(i):‘;ten;:years;fromgthe‘;da‘t_e:;;_qi;in'\tia‘,l:ad\iance; a,nd;'(ii);s‘ubj_\ectw;tfc‘),,thegbor‘royver"s‘irlight to: extend for a further five years, the:-> = -

date of completion'of the:acquisition by the Trust of its interest. The Trust'has options to purchase:(and the'borrowers have-options to-réquire -
the-Trust to. purchase).an interest (generally between"33.1/3% and 50%) ir‘the properties. These options can be'exercised'upon the substan-
tial completion of the properties. Prior to maturity, these participating mortgages and loaris.will also be repaid from the cashi flows generated
from the exercise-of the Trust’s options to:purchase the properties and from operating and capital transactions relating to.the properties.

Other mortgages and loans receivable bear interest-at rates varying from 5.50% to' 8% per annum with a weighted-average yearend
rate of 6.98%-(2002 — 7.23%). Future repayments are dueas follow's; : '

Year;e»ndihg.D‘e_'c‘émber“3],$2Q10‘4.ﬁ., BT N SN e $ 99“1:; v

...............................................................................................................................................................................

Other mortgages and loans receivable - ' : $ 6,861
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Operating expenses and propertytaxes o oD le s 10722 0§ 776
Recoverable operating-costs ‘ N L | L = .i : . i L “ 8,631
Debt financing-costs . - R e R LT L S 7,089 ‘ ’7,8219'

= o 4395 - 4870

Capital assets {net of accumulated arho"rtizati‘oh of;-$’3~‘,f1‘:9\4):

$. 34,834 . § 30,064

7. W Mortgagespayabie

"7 Mortgages payable bear interest at rates a gmgbetween459°/ ‘ 295%perannum with & weighted average yéz;fw':éﬁa{:ré'fé';Of@: ST
7.15% (2002 - 7.3_0%)5and‘mat’Urebetwe’én:2004-and‘2\02‘3.-Fut}urerepaym_ents‘are duesasifollows: . F
Year ending December 31, 2004 S e R e ~$ 105,082
2005 L e
06 sl
2007 B " o , 239,153
008 o S 198492
e e 980
| 1,720,431

At December 31,2003 the Trust had revolving lines of credit totalltig § 102,500,000 (2002 ='$120,000,000) with mjor Canadian -
financial institutions, against which: $20,572,000 of letters of credit (2002 - $13,592,000) were drawn. These facilities are subject to
annual renewal and are secured by certain-income: properties. - . : :

g  Debentures payable

. 2003 Y2002

Series A-senior unsecured, maturity of October 31; 2007, interest bear’ing"»yaf‘t'k

7.07% per-annum, payable semi-annually o % 13693 .. § 13,693

Series B senior unsecured, maturity-of April. 25,2005, interest bearing at " ‘ e S Co
6.75% per-annum, payable: semi-annually - . ol e 50,000 50,000

Series C.senior unsecured, maturity of January 18, 2006, interest bearing at. -, cat o
7.20% per annum, payable semizannually = - P Tt S 250000 125,000+ -

" RealFund Series A senior unsecured, maturity of'August 1, 2007, interest e : ~ :
bearing at 7:05%. per annum, payable'semi-annually c S 150,000 150,000 .

B % 338693 S 338693
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9. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

2003 002

Tenantrnstallatro nd‘caprtalexpendrtufes ©§- 50,770 wo o$e 53,1880 o

T opeatingexpenses T TTTT37,6197 38815
Deferrediincome. . . . SRR R - 25,165 21,696
Accrued interest expense B - o 19,813 18,389
Distributions payable _te,un!t_hetd,e,ts ________________________________ R T 17360 14668
$ 150 127 $ 146 756‘: '
©10: " Unitholders equity -~ |
o e e 003 2002
o outstandmg,'begrnmng ofyear et Y Y - S 7 669
- Units-ssued - - oo s e e o i e 19477 11,904
Unrts outstandrng,vend‘of year - o , ... 178,050 158,573
AR December 31 2003 there were 2 500 000 warrants outstandmg Each warrant exprres on September 7, 2006 and entrtles the hold '
ertor acqurre one-unit-of the Trust-at $11.02: e T e i T e
T On Aprd 17 2003 the Trust rssued Ny OOO OOO {nits-for cash consrderatlon of $140 250 OOO Unit issue expenses were apprommately
5,900,000 . T

On October 21, 2003, .the Trust issued-5; 000 000 units for ‘cash-cansideération of $70,500,000: Unit issue expenses were approxrmately .
$1,500,000.

On May 1, 2002, the Trust rssued 9,000,000 units for cash consrderatron of $108 900 000: Umt issue expenses were approximately
$4,400,000.. S ,

Durrng the year, /686,000 (2002 -~ 1,460,000) units were rssued under the Trust S dlstrrbutlon re- |nvestment and direct purchase
plans for totak:cash-consideration of $22,804,000 (2002 - $17 589,000).

. .Diiting.the year, 1,791,000 (2002 - 1,444,000) units were |ssued under:the Trusts trustee and employee unit optron plan for total. e
' cash consrderatron of $16 799,000 (2002 - $ 3, 037 000): : :

1. ncentive unit optr@n pian

The Trust's incentive unit:option plan for its employees and trustees {thé p!an“) provides for option grants to a maximum: of

- 14,000, 000 units. At December 31, 2003; 3,750,000 unit option grarits remained-available for issuance under the plan. Thewexercise
price of each.option equals the market price of the Trust's. units on the date of grant and an-option’s maximum-term is 10 years. All
options granted under the_plan-through to December 31, 2003 vest at 20% per year from the grant date berng quy Vested after
four years
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A summary-of the status of the plan.as.at December 31, 2003-and 2002,.and changes during the years ended on those dates are as
-follows: ‘ : ' ' B

c 20020
Weighted: .. -~ i -+ Weighted
Average o Average
) . R : : --Exercise. . . : e .. Exercise
Options , ] - : e e i e I EE Price’ Price.

2003

P ‘5’dts‘tandih‘gi:b"égvi‘_‘nﬁ‘i'n‘g%,df‘y
© Granted

Exercised

Waightéd average-fair value per unit IO R TR : L
of options granted: during year - L $ 071 $ 055
The Trust applies the intrinsic value based method of accounting for-stack-based compensation awards granted to trustees and
employees. Accordingly, no compensation-expense:is-recognized. under the.plan when unit options are granted. Had compensation: cost
for the Trust's-plan-been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates after January 1, 2002 for awards under the plan consis-
tent with the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based compensation, the Trust's.net earnings and earnings per unit
amounts-would-have-been reduced:to.the_pro forma_amounts indicated below: Lo ‘

T T

2003 . ¢ .2002

S 183a16. 5 172208

e Netgar‘mhgs; 2 As r.ep'o.rktéd:.f& 2 . : A ;

< e - EAININGS PEF URIT. _As?reg'o:r_tg;’j_—.' basic . L Iy Lo, $ ’ B 1.0_8  ‘$ 1.1’:1,
Asteporteddivted o oo s 005 L
Pro‘forma =~ basic-and'diluted -~ ., e . - , s .07 . & F

- The pro forma fcompen‘saﬁOn,expensé‘féssdéiéied with these options. was caI‘culatédlzusi'n'g‘,ih'é Black-Scholes Model for option valua: =~ -
tion, assuming a‘weighted average volatility'of 11:5% on:the underlying units,.a weighted average exercise price of $12.44, a
weighted-average distribution yield of approximately.8.9% and a weighted average risk free interest rate of approximately 5:7%.,
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Thie following unit options-granited to-employees-and trustees were outstanding at the end of the year:

Esidies " L T RRERE T .y . "OP“OHS:’ e ”Options‘.

'NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |

Expiry.
Date

Price.{$). ) Outstanding Vested

S me

“,‘.,§-4jo’f,l il

o June2,2007

anuan 12: 2008 — -

e

. May31,2009 ..
e June1,2009 0

80 e January 7,-2010
90 June 1, 2010 -
o 7 QOctobét 4, 2010
300 January 4, 2011
323 May 30, 2011
200 Jahuary 4, 2012
o7 305 o May 30, 2012
e AR50 a4 December6,2012
12.430 ' S ‘ TR T T8RS S wf"Januarv,y~*1~;-20-1;3,;-:~~k-‘~4:'-:A
e L i e . k JanuaryS s
13850 i, 688 ... 138 June 2, 2013
4,909 2,803

On January 2; 21004,‘dptiohs to acquire 400,000.units of the Trust at a p?ite of $15.20 pe'r:kUnit'were granted. The options expire

January. 1, 2015: ‘

12, Emp‘l'cﬁyee future benefits

THe Trust maifitains several‘pension:plans:for.its:employees: The defined:contribution-pension-plan incurred-current service costs in .
the amount of $276,000°for the-yeariended Becember 31;.2003. (2002 - $233,000). The defined benefit pension. plan benefits are.
based on the length of service and the final three to five years average salary, up to a stated maximum. A summary of the defined
benefit pension plans for the year ended December 31, 2003 s as follows: ending balance of fair value of plan assets — $173,000
(2002 - $105,000); ending balance of accrued benefit liability —~ $820,000 (2002 — $527,000); and annual benefit expense $347,000
(2002 - $278,000). - '
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13, Investment.in.co-ownerships___

~TheTrust's share’ of thesassets, liabilities; earnings andscash- flows-from. co-ownership activities.is summarized as follows:
S LT R L 2003 2002

Assets ' o bl e V$ t880},'216- S '649‘,087, .
Liabilities. R A ‘ 572,409 ‘402'005‘
Revenue RN A e e Py S e 66490
' Expénses“' o (i JOTT ;\ ‘ Lt ; e 78,580, o ‘ ‘42-,9'_08.

Neteamings SRR I R T 34604 23,582
Cash flow provided by operating éctivities_ L : , 34,445 25,396
| Cosh flowprovided by flancing sctiities 13980 11352

R ;;-‘,N.T,,.Cashw‘ﬂ“gw,_yus'e‘dﬂ.in,,,Ihvesﬁng;.éc‘ti'.vi”t»i,e‘s“

Guarantees and:contingencies.(Note. 19°(c))_

14.  Distributions to unitholders R
The T‘rustris'gbvemed by a Declaration of Trust (" Declaration®) which requires it to v’d‘ist(i_buté’\'to,“u_ni‘tholders 90% or more of its distrib-
utable income before distributable capital-gains (" recurring distributable income” or “RDI") with' the balance being retained by the
Trust for use in its operations. : ‘ :

The Declaration-requires RDI to be calculated generally-as annual net earnings excluding gainsand losses from real estate investments,
amortization of buildings, provisions.forimpairment of real estate-investments.and-other.items that are not, in the view of the.

Trustees,-proper determinants. of the actual operating income of the Trust: RDI'isa non-GAAP measure and should not be construed as
an-alternative to net-earnings:or cash flow from operating-activities determined in accordance with. GAAP as.antindicator of the Trust's
performance: The Trust's method:of calculating'RDI-may differ from other issuers’ methods and-accordingly RDI may riot bé comparable

to measures used by-otherissuers: =

RDI has been-calculated:in 'ae‘corganc‘e‘With;thelDedaraztion,'ésfblloV&é:

o003 2002

Net earnings = S e S8t S 172,208
Amortzation: oo 9859 AT (RN

Recurrin’g_distribUtablesincofne'{' [ Dol T R 213,856 189,216 -

kv~Retention oi_recurrin"‘g:distnibutablé&ihc‘bmeﬂ e Lo (20,845) (18,101)...

Distributions to unitholders . : ' o - ST 183,011 $ 171,115

Per unit

Distributions to u'ﬁii‘h\oldérs‘ o S e L $ 11400 - --§ - 105
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15 ’ Incometaxes

The: Trustwlswtaxed as.a. Mutual Fund:Trust! for income_tax_purposes:. The Trust is requrred by its Declaration to d|stnbute allof-its taxable

" A.,mcome torunitholders and to-deduct: such- dlstnbutlons for-income. tax.purposes. Accordmgly, no prov15|on forincome taxesis reqmred

‘ --TheT“"

1‘”:‘2003 exceeds |ts tax basns by approx‘mately 5314 000 000

The carrying value-of the Trust's e estate at Decemberi3
16. Financial:instruments.” .-

(i) Fair value of financial- instruments . ' T -
B SR w03 002

. "Carrying: : Fair - Carrying’ Faib

“Value... o iValue . Value Value”

Mortgages payable = : ' - $1,720431 . $ 1,871,387 $1,407374 $1487197
Debentures payable o o '$ 338693 § 356,566  § 338,693 - § 346,070

(i1} Risk management

‘(a) Credit risk ‘ ’
Credit risk arises. from the possibility that tenants may experience financial dlfﬂculty and be unable to-fulfill their fease commitments.
. t mitigates- this risk by conducting-credit assessments on-all new- lessees by ensurmg that its tenant. mix.is. dlversmed through
a large tenant base angd by fimitifg:its- exposure o anyrone tenant"“‘“"“ R e B

Further risks arise’in the event that bottowers default on the repayment of thelr mortgages to the Trust. Such rlsk is mltlgated through
due diligence and evaluation of the worth of the underlylng real estate investments, - :

{b) Interest rate risk; . s
The Trust.is-exposed to interest.rate: fisk on its: borrowings..The Trust seeks to reduce its interest rate risks by staggermg the maturities
of its long term debit and by 1|mmng the use of floating rate debt."

zo’osv ‘ zobiz“
Gain:on sale of.real estate investments: - : .‘ o T - . % 354 | $ | ‘-1-1,506
o @y

o4 354§ 7,786

18. Segmented disclosures.

“The Trust owns, develops, manages-and- operates shopping; centres located in Canada. Management, in measuring the Trust's -p_erfarm-
" anice, does not-distinguish-or grouprits-operations-on-a- geographical or-any-other. Basis.Accordingly, the Trust has.a single reportable
segment for disclosure purposes in accordance with GAAP.

"NQ;"Si’nglé?‘té_‘ha’ﬁt ‘accounted:for 10%0 "m"ofefof‘ithe‘*Tr;usyt:':s,mr‘erit‘a|sreyenu(e.‘ e
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_ (a) Lease commitments.- o , > S : : ,
The Trust is committed: under long:term operating: leases' with various expiry dates to 2029. Minimum: annual rentals.for the next five
years are as follows: . '

- -'~Year~'end‘ingj:-Decemvber-‘3v1s»;~ 2004 oo e s i e A e e L .. | - $ 3,880 S o
o B ST | . 4'»193 T
2008 R : : ' ~ 1,655

(b) Future real’estate purchase -~ - o
; -During-1999, the Trust acquired a.50% interest.in a real. estate investment and has committed to acquire the remaining 50% intérest’
- “in January 2004 for a:purchase-price of $36,860,000; consisting of-cash-consideration-0f.§9,210,000.and the assumption.ofamort- ..
gage payable of. $21,650;000. S ST e e

(¢)-Guarantees . T Cee T ‘ ‘
The Trust has provided guarantees on behalf of third parties, primarily to borrowers Under its participating mortgage receivable financing .
program for those borrowers’ mortgages payable and on behalf of RioCan's partners and co-owners for their share of certain mortgages
. payable. Recourse. would be-had to. the Trust under these guarantees in the event of a default by the borrowers, in which casethe Trust
would have a-claim against the underlying real estate investments. At December 31, 2003 such guarantees amounted to $336,490,000,
expire between 2004 and 2019, and $Nil has been. provided for in these financial statementg. The fair value of the borrowers’ interests
in the real estate investments is greater than the mortgages payable for which.the Trust has provided: guarantees. '
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